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OHAPIER I
STATEMENT OF THE PROELEM

This paper is a study of the relationshlip of three
men who played leading roles in Pennsylvania and American
colonial politics during the twenty year period preceeding
the American Revolutionary Wer, These three men were
Benjamin Franklin, Joseph Galloway, and Charles Thomson,.

The fascinating element in this research is a
triangular reletionship that underwent considerable evolu-
tion. Franklin's admiration for young Joseph Galloway was
manifested in his correspondence and thelr mutual endeavors
from 1756 to 1765. As the recognized leader of the then
dominant Quaker party, Franklin was given the task of
securing taxation of the proprietary properties in
Pennsylvania, From 1757 to 1762 he lived in England working
toward this goal. Galloway was elected to the Pennsylvania
Assembly in 1756, and it was he on whom Franklin relied to
assess colonlal thought. He replaced Franklin on several
Agsembly committees, and might very well be considered
Franklin's "lieutenant."> In the fall of 1765 a cleavage

lgrnest H, Baldwin, "Joseph Galloway, The Loyalist

%ﬁ?&(%%&‘r%o o this

e will be abbreviated to read: Baldwln, Joseph
Gelloway. '
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was begun in the relationship of these two men, and it
culminated ten years later with Galloway a Loyallst and
Franklin a Patriot.

Charles Thomson, like Galloway, was given the
opportunity to become active in Pennsylvania politics
through his acquaintance with Franklin during the period
under study here. While not a politically eminent figure
from 1756 to 1765, Thomson emerged in the next decade to
become a forceful personality in determining Penmnsylvania's
posture in the struggle with England., Franklin returned
to London in 1764 in an attempt to persuade the Crown to
make Pennsylvania a Royal colony. Ensuing events kept him
in England until the spring of 1775. It is spparent, in
studying his correspondence and newspaper writing, that
Benjamin was relying more upon Thomson to measure colonial
thought during this ten year period.

Thomson and Galloway were apparently cordial toward
each other at the outset of the perlod covered by this study.
Both were anti-propristary. Both were close friends and
followers of Franklin. They served together at the Indian
conferences at Easton in 1757, Thomson as secretary to
Teedyuscung and Galloway as Indlan Commissioner. The sugges=
tion that Teedyuscung demand a secretary was probably Galloway's
doing, and 1t 1s likely that he would have encouraged the
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selection of Thomson.® Thomson was & successful teacher and
shared Galloway's frlendship toward Franklin, After the
Stamp Act erisis of 1765 their views became increasingly
opposite. Galloway became the conservative spokesman and
e bitter enemy of Thomson's radical leadership,

It is to the analysis of thls fluctuating trlangle
that this paper 1s directed.

2_I_m.| pp. 172-173.
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CHAPTER II
BIOGRAPHICAL SEKETCHES

The three prinecipals in this study are introduced
at this time in separate blographical sketches in order
to afford the reader a condensed look at thelr most engaging
gectivities, The condensation has not been easy to achleve
in view of the fact that Thomson lived ninety-five years,
Franklin eighty-four, and Galloway seventy-two. However,
it is hoped that an analysis of a segment of their lilves
is made more intelligible when supplemented by general
biographical information.

I. BENJAMIN FRANKLIN (1706-1790)

All the experiences that accompany being the
fifteenth child in the family helped form the basis for
the rapid maturity of Benjamin Franklin, He spent several
apprentice years in his brother's printing shop. Unhappy,
Franklln fled his Boston home and located in Fhiladelphia,
An untrustworthy business partner lured him into 2 trip
to England that proved to be & business failure, but an
otherwise priceless experience. Thus, by 1726 this young
man of twenty had gained quite a liberal education.
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Not long after his return from London, Franklin
renewed his interest in a FPhilladelphia girl, Deborah Read.
They were married September 1, 1730. Thelr son Willlam has
been the subject of controversy. It has never been resolved
whether Deborah wes William's mother. TNevertheless, he was
cherished by the Franklins., In 1736 smallpox took their
four year old son Francis. A daughter Sarah (1744-1808),
was later born to them.,

In the same year as his marriage, Benjamin became
sole owner of The Pennsylvenia Gazette. It was not the
newspaper medium that kept the common folk informed in
homely metters, however. The almanac served this function,
and Pranklin's Poor Richerd's Almensc served it delightfully
well.

The problems of newspaper distribution stimulated
the Philadelphla printer to probe for & more rapid and
efficient intercolonial communicatlons. In 1737 he was
appointed local postmaster of Fhlladelphla. ILater, in
Auvgust 1753, he was appointed & deputy colonial postmaster-
general. In this capacity he developed through his reforms
and improvements a2 steady, solld, eastern line of communications,

Through various extenslons of his printing and news-
paper business, Franklin had by 1748 assured himself a con-
tinuing income. At the same time he had managed to shift
much of the actual work to the shoulders of hls partners.
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He seemed, however, to remove one burden ln order to impose
a dozen others upon himself., Almost the first act after
his "retirement" in 1748 was to establish the academy which
was to become the University of Pemnsylvania. His sclentific
ectivities continued to be enormous and valuable., However,
after 1754 his vocatlon was predominantly politiecs and
diplomacy.

At about the same time that he took over the post
office, Franklin began work as clerk of the Pennsylvania
Assenbly. On October 15, 1736 the Assembly determined not
to reappoint Joseph Growdon as clerk, and chose Benjamin
Franklin instead. He a2t once began his duties, and kept
the record of provincial legislation for the next fifteen
years, In addition to holding this seat close to the political
arena, he enjoyed the financial remumneration of its printing
needs.

On August 13, 1751 Frankllin wes elected to & seat
in the Assembly of Penmsylvania, Carl Van Doren says that
Franklin may himself have entered in the minutes that day:
"Benjamin Franklin being returned s representative to serve
in Assembly for the city of Fhiladelphia, he was qualified
and took his seat accordingly." Within a year he had
served on committees varying widely in importance.

The three great issues that consumed the majority
of Franklin's time and talents were: (1) relations with
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the Indians, (2) peper currency, and (3) the taxation of
the proprietary lands. These were all tied in with the
problem of frontier defense.

While the French were entrenched in the Misslssippl
Valley from 1T745-1T48, little agreement was reached on
defense provisions. Fhiladelphls merchants would not con-
tribute unless the Quakers would pay shilling for shilling.
Apparently the tidewater people believed that the threat
was only to the frontler and that backwoodsmen should defend
that. The frontlier folk seemed to think danger was more
imminent to the coast and should be forestalled by =ction
of the Philadelphians, Aware of the impending chaos, Franklin
wrote a pamphlet entitled Zlain Truth. Its effect was
immediate and overwhelming. By 1748 some 10,000 men were
under arms in the FProvince. Many of the Quakers had become
convinced that defensive action was not immorel, and they
would not oppose Franklin's measures even at the risk of
excommunicatlon.

The peace between England and France, sealed by the
treaty of Aix-la~Chapelle in October, 1748, waes an uneasy
one. There were no guarantees against Indian attacks
inspired by the French on the colonial frontiers. Although
the mother countries were offliclally at peace, these attacks
never ceased. In the early 1750's clashes caused by rival
claims in the Ohlo Valley again brought the conflict close
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to the frontier communities of western Pennsylvania, In
1754 Franklin used the meeting of the Albany Congress to
agitate for a united colonial defense, but his Flan of
Union was not adopted.

The clashes in Pennsylvanlia polltics at this time
were nearly as deadly as the war being waged on its frontiler.
The representative of the FPenns fought to exempt the Penn
estates in Pennsylvania from taxation, while the Assembly
wanted either to tax the proprietors or to have the
Province transferred to the Crown. In the deadlock, money
was lacking for defemse. TFranklin was instrumental in
providing what equipment and finances General Braddock's
expedition received from the Pennsylvania area. When the
forces of Braddock were defeated July 9, 1755 in the Battle
of the Monongahela, the frontler situation took on a greater
tenseness, Refugees were dally streaming into Philadelphia
and demanding protection for their farms and communities,
Ag the news came to Franklin, followed by an angry mob of
backwoods German settlers whom he addressed and sent home
appeased, he knew that the stalemate must be broken and
immediate action taken. He skillfully maneuvered & militia
bill and an appropriation off 60,000 through the Assembly.l

lsee John J. Zimemn, "Ben Franklin and the Quaker
¥ 1755'56p" » XVII (July'
1960), pp. 291=-313, ror a conple e account of Franklin's
etrortu in sacuring this legislation.
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In so doing, he brought revolution within the Quaker party
and became the recognized leader of this pollitical segment
which domineted Pennsylvania government at this time.

The major opposition to Frenklin and his party was
the Governor and those who supported the proprietors. Things
had changed since the days of Williem Penn, His sons John,
Thomas, and Richard had changed his Whig and Quaker pollcles
to thelr own Tory and Anglicen prineiples., They sllienated
the Indians by cheating, the Quekers by joining the Anglicen
Church, and the Assembly by refusing taxation of thelr
estates. No agreement could be reached over the controverslal
secret proprietary instructions, nor over the appointment of
commissioners to supervise the funde voted for defense.

When Isaac Norris declined the assigmment, Benjamin
Franklin was sent to London to present the Assemblyt!s
argument for taxation of proprietary property. He spent
the years 1757 to 1762 in this successful endeavor.

The Indian uprising of 1763 again created 2 military
crisis, Debate over royal government reached angry heights.
Franklin's opponents conducted a2 successful mud-slinging
campaign during the fall of 1764, and dealt him his only
defeat for Assembly office during the period from 1751 to
1764, He had even been honored by election to the Assembly
while in Europe for five years. Although Franklin's party
lost Philadelphia, they retalned a majority in the Assembly.



In addition, they promptly resolved to present thelr
royalist petition to the king, and Franklin was dispatched
to London to menage the affair. This business kept Benjamin
in Englend from 1764 to 1775.

Chapter IV of this writing undertakes to discuss
in detail Franklin's activities while he was in Europe from
1764=1775. This was the critical perloed in the imperial
relationship of the colonies to Britain. It opens with
the Stamp Act and culminates in the deaths at Lexington and
Concord.

On May 6, 1775, the day following his return to
Philledelphia, Franklin was chosen a member of the Second
Continental Congress, Among his efforts in this year of
momentous events the followlng should be noted: he sketched
a plan of union for the colonles; organized the post office,
of which he was the first postmaster general; served on the
commissions sent to induce the Canadians to Join the colonies,
to advise Washington on defense, and to listen to Howe's
peace proposals; served on the committee to draft the
Declaration of Independence; served on the committee appointed
November 29, 1775 to correspond "with friends in Great
Britaln, Ireland, and other parts of the world"; prepared
the instructions for Sllas Deane, whom the committee sent
to France in 1776. Franklin himself was sent to France to
help negotiate & treaty with that country. His lest act
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before departing December 4, 1776, wes to lend the Congress
some three to four thousand pounds.

On June 8, 1781, Benjamin was nemed one of the
comnissioners to negotiate peace with Great Britain. ot
until 1785 did Congress permit him to return home from his
ambassadorial work. Shortly after his arrival he was chosen
president of the executive council of Pennsylvania, After
serving in this capacity for three years, he was selected
& member of the Constitutional Conventlion which met in May,
1787. His presence at this Convention lent inspiration and
an alr of moderation to the proceedings.

The long and momentous life of this printer, suthor,
philanthroplst, inventor, statesman, diplomat, and sclentist
came to & close in Philadelphia on April 17, 1790.2

2Biographical information on h'n.nklln was taken
from: Oarl Van Doron (New York: Ihe
Viking Press, 1938)3; Nelson n Gu'den
City, New York: Hanover Houna. !h8.§ u§ - ge,i
e New Yor erican
ﬁerary 1&% &?ﬁoﬁ en Johnson & Dumas

Malone (eds.), gﬁéﬁn Blogzaahy, V1 (New
York: chnrlea Scribner's Sons s PP. : Further

reference to any of the above works will be ahbmiatod to
read: Ven Doren, Benjamin Frenklin, Keyes, Ben Frapklin,

eto.
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FIGURE 2
JOSEPH GALLOWAY
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II. JOSEPH GALLOWAY (1731-1803)

Joseph Galloway wes the personification of youthful
brilliance and potential, PFPower and success were loglcal
predictions for this young man, His father, Peter Bines
Galloway, was prominent in trade and possessed large estates
in Maryland and Pennsylvania, Joseph was born at West River,
Anne Arundel County, Maryland., Hls father dled while he was
8till very young, and shortly thereafter he moved to
Philadelphia where he studled law. Early in his career
he rose to eminence at the bar. A mere eighteen years old,
he was permitted to practice before the Supreme Court of
Pennsylvania in 1749. BSults for the recovery of debts,
knotty questions comnected with the execution of wills, and
admiralty cases also occupled his attention. Thus, he was
largely concerned with matters relating to property rights.
This fact should not be overlooked in seeking an explans-
tion of his conduct following the Stamp Act riote, Not only
was Galloway a large landowner himself, but he wes thrown
into the closest relatlons with property holders, and learned
to regard them and thelr Iinterests as paramount end the
protection of property as one of the moet essential dutiles
of govermment,

Already related to the Shippens and the Pembertons,
he added to his profitable connections when he married
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Grace Growdon, the daughter of former Assembly Speaker and
councilor, Lawrence Growdon. The ceremony took place in
Christ Church, Philadelphis, on October 18, 1753.

Though of considerable wealth and interested in a
number of Fhiladelphis mercantile houses and in land promo-
tions in the West, Galloway seems to have been driven by
vanlty to seek political office as a road to power and
influence. The withdrawal of the Quakers from offlicial
positions in the govermment opened the way for his elec~-
tion as assemblyman in 1756,° He was referred to as a
"young Quaker lawyer," although he was no longer a member
of any Friends' meeting. He held a post in the Assembly
continuously until 1776 with the single exception of the
1764-1765 term. His somewhat cold and austere nature did
not win him the votes of the electors, and he was kept in
office primarily by the effective functioning of the Quaker
political machilne.

In the Assembly Galloway took a prinecipel part in
the legislative work arising out of the war with France and
at once assumed & position of party leadership. He was

3Leonard W, Lebaree (ed.) ;nﬁ ?nq
Vol. VII (New Haven: Yale vers t'%; Press, 3),
Pe 10. Further reference to this text will be abbreviated

to read: Labaree, Fapers of Benjamin Franilin.
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actively promoting the cause sgainst France from 1754-1763.
He mllied with Benjamin Franklin in the campalgn to tax the
Penn's properties. This affiliation with the renowmed
Franklin gave an edded impetus to the Galloway politiecal
career. When Franklin was sent to England in 1757, the
mansgement of the anti-proprietary party in the Assembly
was left in the hands of Galloway., Evidence of this appears
in the minutes of the Assembly. Galloway was lmmedlately
assigned to the places on several committees left vacant
by Frenklin.* The two most importent were those of Grievances
and Oomlmndonoa.s

Gellowey was appointed as Indisn Commissioner by
the Assembly April 9, 1757. The occasion of this appointment
wae the attempt to bring esbout peace with the Delaware and
Shawanese Indlans,

Both Franklin and Galloway lost thelr Assembly seat
in the electlon held in October 1764. The Quaker party
remained in control of the Assembly, however, and Franklin
and his "lieutenant" remained the power behind the scenes.
They worked together in the petition for royazl govermnment.
While Franklin spent the next decade in England, Gallowsey,

45ee the ! n‘%kpﬂllﬂstm& 1 9,

1757, They are con es F, Hoban (ed. s

% Bighth Series, Vol. VI (1935

5Baldwin. Joseph Gallowey, p. 171.
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from 1766 to 1774, wes elected annually to the speakership
of the Assembly.

Greet Britain moved to strengthen her controls over
the colonies following the French and Indlan War., Galloway
was desirous of a closer union, From the time of the Stamp
Aet on, he sdmitted British errors in handling the colonies.
At the same time, he prevalled on the colonlsts to show
obedient respect to the Ministry =o that solutions could
be achieved through the machinery of government.

He was selected to be a delegate to the First Con-
tinental Congress, and accepted on the condition that he
could draft the instructions of the Pemnsylvania delegation.
At the Oongress he presented 2 plan for an lmperilal legisla-
ture which would provide the empire with a written constitu-
tion. Early favorable comments epparently indlcated success,
but when the measure was voted upon, 1t failed 6-5, It was
then voted to expunge all reference to it from the minutes.

Again elected to the Second Continental Congress,
Galloway declined the appointment, He had abandoned hope
for conservetive actlon by the Congress. In that same year
he severely criticlzed the First Congress in his, A Candld
Examlnation of the Mutual Claims of Great Britain and the
Colonles. He seems to have held a much more filrm bellef
than most thet all grievences would ultimately be redressed
upon orderly petlitlion to the Orown. He had only contempt
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for the radical elements., The Second Continental Congress
granted his request that he be dismissed. A Connectlcut
delegate wrote that he was "jJustly desplsed and contemned
by all.” This ended the more respectable part of the publilc
career of Joseph Galloway. The man who had saved himself
many & political hurdle by attaching himself to Benjamin
Franklin and who had married the only available lady in
Pennsylvania whose father owned a four-wheeled carrlago,
was on his own at last., He was to regein his energles and
ambitions, but never agalin his influence.

Fearing for his safety in 1775, a time when emotions
were at a fever pltch, he retired to his country home,
Trevose, just outside Philadelphia, He undoubtedly had
a strong attachment to his native soll, but his convictions
embrolled him in the impending conflict as a2 Loyalist.

He faced many threats upon his life at this time. A colonial
victory against the likes of Great Britain was impossible
for him to concelve. The only reasonable action for him

to take seemed that of helping restore a disorganized America
to the Britlsh Crown. He thus fled to New York to ald
Admiral Rlchard Howe.

In the Philadelphia campaign conducted by Howe, the
services of Galloway were valuable., Upon occupation of the
clty he became civil administrator during 1777 end 1778. He
held the tltles of superintendent of police and of the port.
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When the Continental forces regained control of
Philedelphia in 1778, Galloway sailed to England with his
daughter, He became the chief spokesman for the American
Loyalist., He testified before the Parllament on the conduct
of the war, and published pamphlets attacking Lord Howe and
others for their incompetence.

Remaining convinced to the end that a written con=-
stitutlon wee the answer to Britain's lmperial problems
with the colonies, Galloway published two pamphlets on the

subject. They are entitled: Historical and Political
Reflectlons on the Rise and Progress of the American
Eebellion (1780), and Cool Thoughts on the Conseguences

%o Great Briteln of American Independence (1780).
Other writings by Galloway represented the claims

of the Loyalists who suffered economic losses as a result
of the war, His own estates were confiscated and he became
largely dependent upon his British pension. His petition
in 1793 to return to Pemnsylvanie was refused by the
authorities of that State.

The last ten years of his life were devoted primarily
to hls religious studies, to pleading the cause of his fellow
Loyallsts, and to literature.
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Joseph Galloway dled after twenty-flive years of

exile, on August 29, 1803, He was buried in the churchyard

of Wetford, Hertfordshire.®

53105:11211«1 information on Galloway was taken from:

Oliver C, Kuntzleman (Philadelphia:
Temple University, 1§4 : %&n% Malone (eds.),
m%lvn (New York: Charles
s+ DD. «117; Ernmest H, Baldwin,

Foiitaerts Sous, TO91)

Sallower, PP. 164-137, Further reference to Kuntzleman's
wor be abbreviated to read: Kuntzleman, Joseph Gallowey.
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I1II, CHARLES THOMSON (1729-1824)

The controversiel Charles Thomson was borm in County
Derry, Ireland, November 29, 1729, He came to Amerlica when
he was ten years of age. This young child had slready known
sorrow and difficulty. He was one of six orphaned children
set ashore at New Castle, Delaware., His mother had diled in
Ireland, and his father, John Thomson, died on shipboard
within sight of the American shores., Young Charles witnessed
his dying father's last moments,

John Thomson was part of the Protestant emigration
from Ulster due to the decline of the wool trade and the
enforcement of the Test Act by England. MNost of these
immigrants sought a home in Pemmsylvania, attracted by the
reports of its great natural wealth. They were also per-
suaded by the fact thet under the charter of Femn and the
laws of the province, they could enjoy ecivil and religious
1liberty.

The issue of religion 1s important to this thesis.

It 1s thus significant to note that before 1726, 6,000
Ulster emigrants hed arrived. Fallure of the crops of Ulster
increased the volume so that they came at the rate of 12,000
per year until 1750. They were nearly all Presbyterians.
This great body of immigrants aroused the fears of colonlal
authorlties and in 1729, James Logan wrote:
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It looks as if Ireland is to send 2ll her

inhabitants hither; for last week not less than

8ix ships arrived, and ev day two or three arrive
also, The common fear is, that if they continue to
glo‘::i n?:ﬁ will meke themselves proprietors of the

For & time, Thomson resided with the family of &
blecksmith at New Castle who thought of sterting him as an
apprentice in the trade. Overhearing these plans, he ran
away from the home., He was taken in by a woman who placed
him in the academy of Dr, Francis Alilson at New London,
Pennsylvania,

I, Alison, who had a conslderable lnfluence on
Thomson's ldeas during these formatlive years, was born ia
the north of Ireland in 1705 and was educated at the
universities of Edinburgh and Glasgow. He came to LAmerica
in 1734 and wes employed for 2 time as tutor in the family
of John Dickinson, He was installed as pastor of the New
London Presbyterian Church in 1736, where he remained for
fifteen years. In 1741, he opened a private academy at New
London. Among his other pupils was John Dickinson.

Upon leaving the New London Academy, Thomson became
2 teacher. He made hls home for a time in the family of

John Chambers, who reslded on & large farm on the edge of

(thd:iﬁsnécgzrgiegz %%o% %.%-%—1&.

Further reference to this text willl be abbrevieted to read:
Harley, Cherles Thomson.
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liew Castle County, about 100 yards from the Pennsylvania
l1ine, Thomson opened a subscription school in the cooper's
shop that stood on the Chambers farm.

In 1750, he was appointed as tutor in the Fhiladelphia
Academy. While a student at the New London Academy he had
made the acquaintance of Dr, Benjamin Franklin, who was now
instrumental in procurring his appointment. He was salarled
at £60 per year beglmnning January 7, 1751 to serve as a tutor
in the Latin and Greek School. He remained in this capacity
until July, 1755.

Two years later, September 27, 1757, Thomson was
employed by what is now the Willlam Penn Charter School,
Fhiladelphia, He was to take charge of the Latin School and
was pald a salary of £150 per year. This was increased to.f 200
per year in 1758, His work here lasted until 1760 when he
resigned from the Friends school to engage in mercantile
pursuits,

For a while Thomson was an importer, receiving large
invoices of dry goods, hats, ete., from various London firms,
He was following this business at the time of the passage
of the Stamp Act. At the same time, he was also concerned
in the Batsto furnace, near the junction of the Batsto and
Egg Harbor Rivers, New Jersey.

Thomson's political capabllities had been made manifest
in his work on Indian treaties. Arrangements had been made
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for a meeting with the Indlans at Easton in August, 1757.
Teedyuscung, & chlef of the Delawares, was appointed to
speak for the ten tribes present at the meeting. A Quaker=
led group of prominent Pennsylvanians prevailed upon him
to request a secretary. The Governor was forced to consent
and Charles Thomson served the negotiations in this capacity.

The work of Thomson impressed both the Quakers and
the Indians. The minutes taken by Richard Peters, the
secretary for the Governor, were later rejected by Teedyuscung
a8 untruthful, but he found Thomson's notes acourate., The
Indlans were pleased when Thomson made the Governor produce
coples of deeds and prevented other intended intriguee in
the treaty negotiations.

Iwo subsegquent treaty conferences were held at
Easton in 1758, At one of these Thomson wes adopted into
the tribe of the Delawares and given the name "Wegh-wu-lawe
mo-end," whlch means "The man who tells the truth."

Experiences gained as secretary of the treaties at
Easton made Thomson enguire deeply into previous Indian
treaties, and he became somewhat of an authority on the
subject., In 1758 he was commissioned by the provineial
authorities to examine the causes of the Indian troubles
in the Wyomlng Valley. In 1759, Franklin had the Thomson
essay, An Enguiry into the Causes of the Allemation of the
Delawere and Shewenese Indisns from the British Interest,
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published in London. This work throws considerable light
on the "Walking Purchase" of 1737 and the deceltful behavior
of the Penns in this dealing with the Indlans, It provided
Franklin and his Quaker party with effective political
ammunition during the campaign for taxatlion of proprietary
lands.

From the time of the Stemp Act to the First Continental
Congress Thomson zealously opposed the British attempt at
taxing the colonies. John Adams 1s quoted as having called
him, "the Sam Adams of Philadelphla, the life and cause of
liberty, they say."” This phase of Thomson's life 1s
discussed in detall in Chapter IV of this paper.

Hostility developed between Joseph Galloway and
Charles Thomson following the Stamp Act. In 1774, Galloway
demanded and was glven the authority to write the instruc-
tions for the delegates to the First Continental Congress.

He was also successful in preventing Thomson from being
chosen a delegate. Galloway was surprised as well as
chagrined when this Cherles Thomson, whom he characterized

es "one of the most violent of the Sons of Liberty (so called)
in America,"” was chosen by Congress to be 1ts secretary.

Perhaps 1t 1s as secretary of the Continental Congress
that Thomson is best known. Chosen to this position again
in May 1775 as the Second Continental Congress met, Thomson
remained in this capaclty through the 1life of the Congress.
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For nearly fifteen years he sat at the secretarial table,
minuting the birth-records of =2 nation. As year succeeded
year, delegates came and went, but Charles Thomson, the
"perpetual secretary," remained, He beheld the drama of the
American Revolution as did no other man,

As the chilef surviving link between the old govern=-
ment and the new, Thomson was chosen to notify George
Washington of his election to the Presidency. A quorum
being present in the United States Senate for the first time
on April 6, 1789, that body formally issued the appointment,
He set out on April Tth, and reached Mount Vermon April 1l4th,
where he communicated the message to Washington.

To Thomson's greet mortification, he was given no
part in the insugural ceremonies. He actively sought some
kind of importent political office, but his efforts were in
vain., Accordingly, on July 23, 1789, he transmitted to
Preslident Washington his resignation of the office of
secretary of the Continental Congress and of the custodian-
ship of its records. Retiring to his estate at "Harriton,"
near FPhiladelphia, he devoted the next twenty years to
meking translations of the Septuagint and the NHew Testament.

Thomson was twice married. In approximately the year
1758, he wed Ruth, a daughter of John Mather of Chester,
Pennsylvenia, John Mather was prominent in church affairs,
and in 1727 was elected warden in St, Paul's Episcopal Church,
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Chester. His name appears on the list of vestrymen as late
as 1760, He died in 1768 end the Pennsylvenia Gazette of
November 17, 1768 carried the eobituary notice of the "passing
of Charles Thomson's father-in-law." Ruth Thomson's death
probably followed her father's by one month. Thomson also
outllived the two children of this marriage.

On September 1, 1774 Charles Thomson married Hannah
Harrison. ©She was the daughter of Richard Harrison, a
wealthy Friend of Maryland, who settled on the "Welsh Tract,"”
near Fhiladelphia early in the elghteenth century. He
bought Rowland Ellis' tract of TOO acres near Bryn Mawr in
1719. The house in which the Harrisons made thelr residence
wag erected by Ellis in 1704, end is still standing on the
old farm. Harrison added many lmprovements to the estate
and gave 1t the name of "Harriton."

Hannah Thomson was born at Harriton in 1728, After
her fatherts death in 1747, the family moved to Somerville,
near FPhlladelphia., During the Revolution, Thomson and his
wilfe resided in his o0ld home located at %he cormer of Spruce
and Fourth Streets. After resigning his position in Congress,
he retired to Harriton. Hannah dled on September 6, 1807.

After Hannah's death in 1807, he was cared for by his
nephew, John Thomson, and his maiden sister, Mary, who made
her home with him., Some time during the year 1816, he had
a paralytlc stroke which seriously affected his mental powers.
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This wae soon followed by a second attack, leaving him
phyeically helplese, He remained in this condition until
Eovember 1816, when his recovery apparently came as suddenly
as the attacks he had recelved.
Charles Thomson died on August 16, 1824, at the
age of nimty-nvc.a
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CHAPTER III
THE MEN AND THE TIMES 1754-1764

For numerous reasons the Pennsylvenia frontier was
packed with tension in the early 1750's: Indian raids had
become so bold that a near complete state of pamie prevalled.
Some of them were instigated by the French; others were a2
protest against the westward push of the English colonlsts.
Defense provisions were prevented by an impasse in the
Pennsylvania government, as the proprietors refused to
allow taxation of thelr estates, The Assembly asserted that
provincial revenue was insufficlent to pay the militia and
munitions bills. On the other hand, each appropriations
act passed by the Assembly was vetoed by the Governor.

Franklin belleved with the Quaker party members
that the proprietory wealth was tled to the risks and labors
of the Pennsylvanians, It followed, then, that the pro-
prietors should contribute to the cost of the govermment's
activities, especially those dealing with the Indilans, The
proprietors took the position that they were no more obliged
to help meet public expenses than any royal governor of any
other colony would be.

The impasse was temporarily broken when Franklin
succeeded in forming = compromise bill seeking £ 60,000,

He was able to convince the Quakers that the use of arms by



31
others was all right. In spite of the fact that the November
27, 1755 bill omitted the Penn property from taxation, by
the passage of the bill, Franklin succeeded in meeting the
nilitary emergency.

The basic 1ssues remained unresolved, however. No
agreement had been reached on proprietary instructions,
taxing proprietary estates, or the appointment of com-
missioners to supervise the funds voted. These were among
the issues causing the demand for royal govermment in 1764
when the Indian uprising of 1763 again created military
erisis.

On November 23, 1756 the Assembly had appointed
Frenklin and a freshman Assemblyman, Joseph Galloway, to
draft a message to the governor, They were to request
coples of such proprietary instructions "as relate to
Matters of Leglslation” and of the minutes of the recent
Easton Indian conference.l Governor Denny complied on the
30th. Franklin reported on Jamuary 29, 1757 that the minutes
were insccurate in important particulars. Both he and
Galloway must have resolved that greater care for acourate
reporting would be taken at the next treaty meetings with
the Indians,

L1he complete message to the governor can be found
in: Labaree, Papers of Benjamin Franklin, pp. 29-30.
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The Assembly determined on January 28th, to send
commissioners to England to present a request for taxation
of proprietary properties. The following day they selected
Speaker Issac Norris and Benjamin Franklin, Norrls declined
for reasons of 11l health.

Franklin left for the packet at New York on April 4,
1757 His son Willlam resigned from the clerkship of the
Assembly in order to accompany his father to England, The
battle with the landlord was thus shifted to the latter's
home grounds, Franklin called upon the brilliant young
Joseph Galloway to hold his popular party together. The
latter filled Franklin's place on several committees,

To establish a climate of understanding in London,
Franklin relled heavily on that medium which he knew so
thoroughly, the press., He had Willlam write a letter to the
Gltlzen answering an article abusive to Pennsylvania, which

Benjamin suspected was written by the proprietary., He
plamned, with Richard Jackson, & book entlitled: An Historical
Review of the Constitution and Government of Pemnsylvania.

It was completed and published in 1759 and gave the entire
background of the quarrel. Benjamin also arranged for the
publication in 1759 of Charles Thomson's Enguiry into the

Causes of the Allenation of the Delawasre and Shawenese
Indians from the British Interest, In this writing Thomson
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made it clear that the Indlans were viectims of proprietary
decelt in land dealings.

It should be recalled that Galloway was appolnted
Indian Commissioner by the Assembly April 9, 1757. There
was & good chance that the Delaware and Shawanese Indians,
who had Joined the French in the war, would agree to a peace
treaty, provided thelr grievances were redressed.

A "Friendly Association" had been formed by the
leading members of the Quakers with the objeect of furthering
the success of the negotiations by gifts to the Indlans,

They were seconded in their efforts by the Assembly agents,
one of whom was Galloway.

Soon after their appointment as Commissioners, Galloway
and William Masters wrote to Governor Denny urging that
care be taken to learn the Indian complalnts., This was
really & warning that the Indians would be supported in
their jJust claims by the Quaker party.

The Governor obJjected to the plan of the members of
the "Friendly Associatlon" to be present at the conferences
and forbade their glving gifts to the Indians, He was
unable to prevent elther because Teedyuscung, the Indian
Chief, refused to treat without both the "Friendly Associa-
tion" and their gifts., As has been mentioned previously,
the wily Indisn also demanded & clerk of his own, 2 suggestion
which was no doubt of Quaker origin and for which Mr, Galloway
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was probably in part renponsiblo.z It is even possible
thet Galloway and Franklin, in their conversations that
past January, discussed not only the necessity of having
a reliable clerk for the next Indlan negotliations, but
Charles Thomson himself. Certainly Thomson qualified.

He was a scholar of reputation and had been, like Galloway,
a young protege of Franklin's.

Thomson was permitted to serve as clerk for Teedyuscung
during July and August of 1757. The Delawares had settled
on the Susquehanna River in the Wyoming district, lands
clalmed by the Penns. Thomson prompted Teedyuscung to ask
the Penns to show their deeds. The result was embarrassing
to the representatives of the proprietors. Thelr attempt
to deceive and cheat the Indlans out of their lands was
thus diselosed.

The Assembly sent Thomson's record to Franklin,
asking him to consult the ministry. Thomson's Enguiry wes
published in London. It was valuable to Franklin in hearings
that followed, because it created an atmosphere of distrust
of the proprietors by the London Ministry, At the hearing
before the Board of Trade on May 15, 1759, Franklin asked
the proprietors to show their deeds to the Board. They
protested, thinking he did not know thelr contents. To

®Balawin, Joseph Gallowsy, pp. 172-1T3.
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their chegrin, Franklin produced coples of the deeds end
freely turned them over to Lord Hallfax., It was then clear
to the Board that the Penns had llied in their land claim
both to the Indians and to the Board as well. They then
took the case out of the hands of the proprietors and
referred 1t to Sir William Johunson, superintendent of the
Six Nations under the Crown, who allowed the Delawares to
stay in Wyoming.>

Late in 1758 Galloway was again sent as a Commissioner
to Easton, to another conference with the Indians, et which
the Governor in valn sought to have Teedyuscung withdraw
his charges of fraud against the Proprietors. In the
following year (April 21, 1759) Galloway was on & committee
ordered "to collect all the treaties held with the several
tribes of Indlians by this province, from the first settle-
ment thereof, and to see the same printed in & small folilo
volume, on good strong Plpﬁr."“ Since this is exactly the
same type of work that Thomson was s0 involved in, it is
very likely that they shared information and lent ald to
each other.

It was five years before Franklin's business was
completed, After many hearings in Privy Council and seversl

5Ven Doren, Benjamin Franklin, p. 285,

“Balawin, Joseph Gellowsy, pp. 176-17T.
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acrimonious exchanges with the proprietors, taxatlon of
the Penn estates in Pennsylvania was allowed by the King
on Franklin's guarantee that the assessments would be as
honest and as reasonable as the cther assesrmazts in the
Province. Frankliin had won the first round. Thomson and
Galloway had performed well in their work with the Indians,
and Galloway had kept Franklin's Assembly seat warm.

Soon after Franklin's return to Peansylvanis, his
party again was plegued with the problem of frontler defense,
The treaty of Paris in February 1763 made peace between
England and France, but not between the colonists and the
Indians, The Indlans were desperate as they found their
gifts from the white man were no longer forthcoming at the
war's end. They were further enraged that more and more
settlers were taking up thelr lands, By the summer of 1763
Pontlac's Rebelllon was under full sway, as the Indians
attacked the English on the long front extending from
Detrolt to Fort Pitt.

To provide a defense, some frontier communities formed
volunteer companies. In Lancaster County, certaln Scotch-
Irish settlers of Paxton and Donegal townships, Presbyterian
fanatics who called themselves the Paxton Boys, turmed their
fury against the friendly Indians living at peace within the
Province, The Indians under the protection of the Moravians
near Bethlehem were safely moved to Philadelphla., But in
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December, fifty or more of the Paxton Boys fell upon the gqulet
village of the Conestoga Indians near Lancaster and murdered
the six Indlans they found at home, The remaining fourteen,
who had been away selling thelr baskets, brooms, and bowls
among the neighbouring whites, were collected by the sherliff
and lodged in the workhouse at Lancaster., Iwo daye after
Christmas the rioters broke open the workhouse and put old
and young to the hatchet.

John Penn, Governor since November 1763, issued two
proclamations ordering the arrest of the oriminals and
offering a reward. Nothing came of it. The mob grew into
an army of several hundred men that moved on Philadelphla.
Three companies of regular troops, the Royal Americans,
were called from Cumberland to Fhlladelphla to guard the
Indian refugees. Thils provoked the westerners to argue
that the government was doing more for the Indians than
for its own people on the border., Franklin labeled the
behavior of the FPaxton boys riotous and murderous, and gave
expresslon to his thoughts in a pamphlet written in January
1764, end entitled, Nerrative of the Late Messacres in
Lancaster County.

As the rioters approached Philadelphia, panlic sent
John Penn in haste to beg Franklin's assistance in defending
the city. "Much &5 he hated me," recalled Franklin, "the

governor did me the honour, in an alarm, to run to my house
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at midnight, with his councillors at his heels, for advice,
and made 1t his headquarters."” Franklin met the rioters
at Germantown and was successful in restoring peace to
Philadelphia. By February 11, 1764 the mob had been dispersed.

The Governor had been unable to maintain order; he had
shown fright when courage was demanded of his office. He
had discharged the entire incident without reprimsnd, and
he answered the arguments of the rioters privately. His
conduct convinced Franklin that Pennsylvenia should seek
royal govermment.

The Assembly passed a resolution of adjourmment on
March 24, 1764. It stated that the members would consult
their constituents on the advisability of a petition for
royal govermment. Franklin presented his argument in the
pempnlet, Uool Zhoushts on the Eresemt Situstion of Our
Public Affeirs, which he distributed throughout Fhilsdelphis
that Aprill, In 1t he reasoned that proprietary rulers were
not necessarlly worse than other rulers; the problem was
interwoven in the very nature of proprietary goverament.

Galloway seems to have believed with Frenklin that
George III, "who has no views but for the good of his people,
will thenceforth appoint the governor, who, unshackled by

5Ven Doren, Benjemin Fremklin, p. 310.
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proprietary lnstructions, will be at liberty to Joln with
the Assembly in enactling wholesome laws,"0

The friends of the Governor viewed the proposal as
revolutionary. The FPresbyterlans were afresld a royal govern-
ment might bring an established church, a bishop, and tithes.
The Quakers and the Moravlians fevored the change, while the
Anglicens and the Germans were divided.

John Dickinson led the opposition to roysl govermment.
He admitted the evils of the proprietary rule, but saw no
good reason to expect that the Ministry would send better
governors, Besides, a new imperial policy was imminent.
With 1t threatening, Pemnsylvanis could not afford to glve
up the constitution which hed long protected 1it.

Although there is ample evidence that Charles Thomson
was opposed to the proprietors, no indiecation of his thoughts
on the possible alternative of royal govermment was dis-
covered in this research., It is possible that he formed
no definite opinion at this time. Certainly he shared the
feelings of his good friend, Benjamin Franklin, in denouncing
the competency of the Penns, It is equally possible, in
view of his later reaction to the Stamp Act, that he shared
the views of his relative and former school mate, John

6A1vert Hemry Smyth (ed.) Writ
IV (New York: The R ULm‘ompany, ﬁogf danda
Pe 240, Further reference to thils series will be abbrsviated
to read: Smyth, Writingzs.
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Dickinson, who feared for the loss of hard-won freedonms.
When Parliament passed the Stamp Aet in March 1765, Thomson
was one of the most zZealous in fighting what he considered
an invasion of hard-won colonial rights,

When the Assembly met agaln in May, 1764, debate
reached angry heights, Isaac Norris, whose daughter had
merried John Dickinson, resigned as Speaker, an office he
had held for fourteen years. Franklin was lmmediately and
mn.i.loiuly elected to succeed him., It was Franklin who,
on May 26th, a8 Speaker of the Assembly, signed the petition
for royal government, which he had drafted.

Franklin presided as Speaker for the few days left
in May and then again during the short sesslon in September.
The members went to thelir constituents, and the campaign
before the electlion of October 1, 1764 reflected the malice
generated in the Mey debates, Mud-slinging became standard
procedure, Frankllin was accused of every kind of villany.
The private scandal of his son's birth was brought up. The
Germans were not allowed to forget that he had called them
"Palatlne boors," nor the Scotch-Irish of Faxton and Donegal
townships that he nad ¢slled them "Christian white savages.”
He was the target of cartoons, squibs in the newepapers,
malliclous tongues, none of which he took the trouble to

answer.
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Franklin and Gelloway, both cendldates for seats
from the city of Philadelphia, managed the campaign for
their party, which was called the 0ld Ticket. VWhen the
polls closed at 3:00 p.m., October lst, the vote showed
Franklin and Gelloway beaten by twenty-five votes of 4,000
cast, The 0ld Party had lost FPhiladelphla, but they retained
e majority in the Assembly. They not only resolved to
present the petitlon to the King, but they chose Franklin,
on October 26th, to go &s agent to manage the affair, He
was to asslst Richard Jackson, who had been agent for the
Province since Franklin's return from England.

On November 7, 1764, Franklin set out for his ship
at Chester, slxteen miles away, with three hundred friends
on horseback, Galloway and two others stayed on board with
him as far a8 New Castle. On December 9, 1764 Franklin was
once agalin in England.

In summary, this ten year period, 1754-1T764, was
focused primsrily on local issues. Chlef among these were
the taxation of proprietary estates and later the abolition
of proprietary govermment., Since Franklin, Galloway, and
Thomson actively sought to denounce the proprietors, they
might be described as radicals. Certalnly, this is suggested
by the efforts of Franklin and Galloway in thelr attempt
to replace the proprietors with a royal government, Thomson's
informatlon on proprietary dealings with the Indiens helped
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Franklin cast doubt upon the honesty and integrity of
the Penns, and this contributed significantly to the
Ministryts decision to allow taxatlion of the proprietary
lands, While Franklin was busy in England on this assigne
ment, Galloway replaced him on committees, kept him abreast
of events in Pennsylvanla through the mails, and held the
Quaker party intact.

Galloway also was one of the Indian Commlissioners

at the same time that Charles Thomson was serving as
secretary to Teedyuscung, In fact, 1t 1s probable that
Galloway not only persuaded Teedyuscung to demand a secretary,
but he could 2lso have suggested Franklin's scholarly friend,
Thomson.

Benjamin Franklin, Joseph Galloway, and Charles
Thomson were in agreement on the major issues of the day
during this decade, When the focus shifted to the inter-
national level during 1765-1775, the same accord is not

found,




CHAPTER IV
THE MEN AND THE TIMES 1764-1T7T4

The period covered in this chapter begine significantly
with Grenville's suggestion of a stamp tax for the colonles,
The stamp bill was introduced into Parliament on February
13th, and passed on March 22, 1765. It was to go into
effect on November 1lst. The great ilssues in the American

colonles were soon to be international rather than local,
and the three men under discussion here no longer championed
the same causes,

For the next decade Galloway represented the
Pennsylvanie conservative opinion, while Thomson was the
energetlic radical. Franklin reacted initially as 2 con=
servative, but soon began a shift that saw him testify
before Parliament on behalf of American demands, By 1775
Gallowey was a loyalist, Franklin and Thomson were patriots.

This thesis contends that Galloway's intense suspicilon
of the Presbyterians, as well as his deep respect for law
and property rights, were key reasons for the enduring
hostility that developed between him and Charles Thomson
followlng the pessage of the Stamp Act. This i1s not to
imply that Thomson lacked principle or respect for law.

Hies motivation was a desire to preserve basic liberties
that the Stamp Law seemed to Jeopardize.,
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Franklin spent this decade in Burope. He acqulesced
in the Stamp Act and apparently held much the same position
as Galloway until the fall of 1765. Riots and property
destruction in the colonies had made Galloway an arche-
conservative, Franklin was shocked by the colonlal behavior,
but evidence indloates that he 1nclined to think as Thomson
did on the subject, Eventuslly he came to sympathize com-
pletely with the vliews of Thomson and was thus opposed to
Galloway's polities., It was a Thomson letter that Franklin
published in the London press as an lllustration of the
American point of view regarding the Stamp Act, Again it
wes a Thomson letter that Franklin circulated at the height
of his campaign for repeal of the Townshend Acts,

This chepter offers an explanation of the changing
attitudes of these three gentlemen.

Although the pessage of the Stamp Act was announced
end discussed in the newspapers, no great alarm wes spparent
in the Philadelphia newspapers until August, 1765. While

the Pennsylvania Journal issues for Jume, 1765, carried a
serles of articles showing that the colonles were not

represented in Parlimnt.l the August issues featured more
heated comments on taxatlion without representation and on

the question of treason. The Pennsylvanile Gazette for May 30th

lPennsylvania Jourmel, Jume 13, 20, and 27, 1765.
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announced the passage of the Stamp Act and the rumor that
John Hughes would be the Stamp agent for Penmnsylvania, but
again the subject recelved little attention in the Gazette
until August.

A letter from Joseph Galloway to Benjamin Franklin,
dated February 27, 1765, clearly showed the primary goals
of both men at this time. Galloway was anxious for the
success of the petitlon for royal govermment, and he pleaded
this cause at great length. All of his Majesty's comstltuents,
he wrote, "the proprietary dependents and Presbyterians
excepted,"” are determined that the change be effected.?
Franklin's assignment in London became increasingly
complex., The Penns were doing their best to get him dismissed
from his place in the post office. The Assembly instructed
him to resist the passage of the Stamp Act. His task was
one of furthering the petition for royal government, resisting
the passage of the Stamp Acot, refusing to make concessions
on elther, and yet not incurring the disfavor of the ministers.
The royal government matter was soon lost, however, in the
larger issues of the Stamp Act and the need for revising
the Empire.

2
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Unable to prevent the passage of the Stamp Act,
Franklin wrote to Thomson on July 11, 1765 explaining his
position:

| Depend upon it, my good neighbour, I took every
step in my power to prevent the passing of the Stamp
Act. DNobody could be more concerned and interested
than myself, to oppose it sincerely and heartlly. But
the tlde was too strong against us. The nation was
provoked b{ American claims to independence, and all
parties Jolned in resolving by this act to settle the
point. We might as well have hindered the sun's setting.
That we could not do. But since it is down, my friend,
and 1t may be long before 1t rises again, let us make
a8 good & night of 1t as we can. Ve may still light
candles. Frugality end industry will go a great way
towards indemnifying us, Idleness and pride tax wilth
2 heavier hand than kings and parliaments. If we can
get rid of the former, we may easily bear the latter.’

Perhaps this acquiescence by Franklin was the result
of his being totally absorbed in the cause of royal govern=-
ment for Pemmsylvania. Perhaps he was confldent that
legislation injurious to America would be found equally
injurious to England. Obviously, he did not anticipate
the riots and property destruction that occurred in the
colonies during the summer and fall of 1765.4 Expecting
to "make as good a2 night of 1t as we can,” he appointed
his good frlend, John Hughes, to be stamp agent for

SSmyth, Nritinzs, pp. 389-300; Bigelow, lorks, pp. 162-164,
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Pennsylvania, Franklin had fallen out of step with colonial
opinion on the more significant issues of the emerging new
imperial policy. His equivocel conduct soon proved embar-
rassing, end gave his enemies in Pennsylvanie excellent
political ammunition. They later launched a bitter attack
upon his character in an attempt to disecredit the entire

| Quaker party during the fall election of 1766,

Actually, Franklin was simply prepared to ablde by
the decision of Parliament. For him, 1t was only a single
setback in a general campaign for imperial unity. The mistake
had been mede in London. American resistance meant British
resentment, and was sure to delay progrese towards the real
solution, Commenting on the passage of the Virginia Resolves,
he wrote to John Hughes on August 9, 1765:

The rashness of the Assembly in Virginis is amaszing.

I hope, however, that ours willl keep within the bounds
of prudence and moderation; for that is the only way to
lighten or get clear of ouwr burdens. As to the Stamp
Aot, though we propose doing our endeavour to get it
repealed, yet the success is uncertain. . . . A firm
loyalty to the Crown and falthful adherence to the
government of this nation, which 1t 1s the safety as
well as the honour of the colonles to be connected wilth,
will always be the wisest course for you and I to take,
whatever may be the madness of the populace or their
blind leaders, who can only bring themselves and country

into trouble and dng on greeter burthens by scts of
rebellious tendency.

5%952%@. P. 3923 Van Doren, Benjemin
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When Charles Thomson had received Benjamin Franklin's
letter of July 11th, he found himself in disegreement with
his sage senior. His reply, dated September 24, 1765 was
replete with sentiments of fervlid patriotism and clear
statements of British wrong done to the colonies:

YES, my friend, I grant that 'Idleness and Prlde
tax with e heavier hend then Kings and Parliaments,*®
tand that frugality and industry willl go a2 greet
towards indemnifying us.' But the misiortune 1s, %
very thing that renders industry necessary cuts the
sinews of 1t. With industry and frugality the subjects
of esstern tyrants might be wealthlier than those of
England or Hollend. 3But who wlll labour or save who
has not & securlty in his property? When pecple are
taxed by their own representatlves, though the tax
is high they pay it cheerfully, from & confldence
that no more then emough is required, and that a due
regerd is had to the azilitytof the giver. ngt when
taxes ere lald merely to 'se jig pgggg -
ence,' and when the guantity o e tax depends on the
ceprice of those who have the superlority, and who will
doubtless lay 1t heavier in order to bring down the
spirlts or weaken the power of those who claim
independence, what encouragement is there to labour
or save? . +» » There never was any mention of the
colonles ailming at independence, till the ministry
began to abridge them of their liberties . . .

The Sun of Liberty is indeed fast setting, 1f not
down already, in the Amerlican colonles: But I much
fear instead of the candles you mention belng lighted,
you will hear of the work of darkmness. They are in
general alarmed to the last degree. The colonles
expect, and with reason expect, that some regard shall

| be had to their llberties and privileges, as well as
trade., They cannot bring themselves to belleve, nor
can they see how Englend wlth reason or Justice could
expect, that they should have encountered the horrors
or a desert, borme the attacke of barbarous savages,
and, at the expence of their blood and treasure, settled
this country to the great emolument of Ingland, and after
all quletly submit to be deprived of everything an
Englishman hee been taught to hold dear. It 1s8 not
property only we contend for., Our Liberty and most
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essential privileges are struck at: Arbitrary courts
are set over us, and trials by Jurles taken away: The
Press 18 so restricted that we cannot complain: An
army of mercenaries threatened to be billeted on us:

The sources of our trade stopped; and, to complete our
ruin, the little property we had acquired, taken from
us, without even allowing us the merit of giving 1t;

I really dread the consequence. The Parlliament insist
on & power over all the liberties and privileges clalmed
by the colonies, and hence require 2 blind obedience

and acquiescence in whatever they do: Should the
behaviour of the colonies happen not to square with
these sovereign notlons, (as I much fear it will not)
what remains but by violence to compel them to obedlence.
Vielence will beget resentment, and provoke to acts
never dreamt of: But I gill not anticipate evil; I
pray God avert it. . .

Thomson's thoughts made 2 marked impression on
Franklin, He had the above letter printed in the London
Chronicle of November 16, 1765 as an illustration of the
colonial point of view.'

Although their assemblies tended to be generally
temperate in thelr protests, the colonists grew more and
more outspoken during the fall of 1765. While the General
Court of Massachusetts was calling en intercolonial congress
to meet in New York in October, groups of unofficisl men
in various colonies were being organized as Sons of Liberty.
The extra-legal threat posed by this group, and their

SYerner W, Crane (od.) » Bepjamp Franciin's
.40 0 LR O okt

=38, Further reference to this
work will be abbreviated to read: Orane, Franklin's Letters

Lo the Fress.
Trennsylvanis Gazette, March 6, 1766.



50
intimidetlion of officlals 1in Beston and Rhode Island were
shocking to Joseph Galloway.

Writing over the pseudonym "Americanus," Galloway
had a lengthy letter printed in the August 29th Zennsylvania
dJournal. He critlclzed the "impropriety and rashness" of
the methods by which the Stamp Act was being opposed. He
pointed out that Britalin had run up a great debt in defending
America from the French and Indlan menace, while the Americans
had been the chlef beneflclaries of the peace settlement.
He thought it reasonable to expect the colonles to contribute
part of the cost of their own defence. As matters stood,
this uight be done by the voluntary action of the separate
colonial legislatures, or by payling texes levied by Parliament.
The miserable fallure of the former method during the Seven
Years War had, Gelloway thought, prompted the imperial
govermment to attempt direct taxation of the colonies. He
then suggested two other ways the colonies might share in
the cost of imperial defence. First, they might ask for
representatlion in Parliament. If granted, thiles would gilve
Parllament the right to tax Americs, and give Americe a
volce in the management of the Empire. Secondly, they might
form an American union with a common legislature which could
then, with Parlisment's concurrence, provide for American
defense. Otherwlse, the "law of necessity" would justify
British taxation of the colonies. The last paragraph of



pressed by Franklin in his letter to John Hughes, dated
August 9, 1765, and quoted above. "Americamus" said:
While this wise and prudent measure 1s undertaken,
refers here to the °‘lli:ﬁ of the Stamp Act
ngressf 1t is hoped th;t those ecent reflections
which have already been too often repeated in our
public papers, be no longer continued, as they
only tend to create in the minds of the weak and
lgnorant, a spirit of disloyalty against the crown,
and hatred against the people of England; and to
excite to resentment of our supcriora ageinst the
Anmericans, and thereby involve them in difficulties
more burthensome end ipconvenlent, than those we now
80 loudly complain of.

Galloway's views were, in part, = reflection of
Franklin's earlier influence on him, While still in his
twentles, Galloway had become Franklin's deputy in the
Pennsylvania Assembly. He was convinced, with Franklin,
of the advisabllity of a closer relationship with Britain.
Now, with the Stamp Act, the need was urgent., This would
create 2 legal channel through which complaints could
receive a hearing.

That whlch he feared most was soon to happen. Stamp
Act riots were threatened by the radicals in Philadelphia.
On September 12th there was a growing clamor and threats

were mede to pull down John Hughes's house.’ On September 16th

51
Galloway's "Americanus" essay 18 comparable to 1ldeas ex~
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violence was averted when Galloway called out the White
Oakes and the Hearts of Oak. These clubs of tradesmen
posted themselves throughout the city and broke up the
demonstrations of the Soms of Liberty.l0

On September 20, 1765 Gelloway wrote to Benjamin
Franklin:

The public papers will inform you of the present
distraocted state of the Oolonies, and the
outrages and riots that have been occasioned a
dislike to the stamp act: all which have been
incited by the principal men of the colonies where
they have been committed. Measures have not been
wanting to create the same temper in the people here,
in which some have been very active. In hopes to
prevent their 111 effects, I wrote a moderate plece,
signed Americenus, published here and at New-York,
and since in V’irginh; wherein you will see my
sentiments on the subject. I am told it had a
good effect in those places, as well as here, being
much epproved by the moderate part of the people.
Yet we should not have been free from riots here,
1f another method had not been taken to prevent
them, VIZ, By assembl quietly, at the instance
of Mr, Hughes's friends (and not by an order from the
government of the city) near 800 of the sober inhabitants,
posted ln different parts, ready to prevent any mischief
that should be attempted by the mob, which effectually
intimidated them, end kept all tolerably quiet, only
they burnt a figure they called a Stamp Man, and about
midnight dispersed. Great pains have been taken to
persuade and frighten lMr. Hughes into a Resignation
of hils office, but he contimues firm, and will not
resign in any manner that shall do dishomour to his
appointment; and I think will be able to put his
commission into moutﬂn notwithstanding the example
set by other colonies.

1Omad.
L1pid.
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Perhaps the most significant factor determining
Galloway's position 2t this time was hls attitude toward
the Fresbyterians. The anti-TProprietary perty which he led
in the Assembly represented chiefly the conservative mercantile
class of Fhiladelphle and the conservative farmers of the old
counties around Philedelphia. These people lived in growing
apprehension of the Scotch-Irish and New England settlers
who were filling the western counties, and who seemed to
the Philadelphians to be & lawless breed. Galloway shared
their fear of this dominantly Fresbyterlian western popula-
tion. The following evidence will perhaps facilitate an
understanding of his fears.

Charles Thomson's blographer, Lewis R, Harley, borrowed
this quote to describe elghteenth century ZProtestant emigra-
tlon from Ireland:

The resentment which they carried with them continued
Sagiand bad 10 Semenr saesies 1he Ahe mratvens sad
g:genﬁngggmf he Iresbyterians who had held Ulster

To substantlate the above, and to establish that the
Presbyterlans made the first serious effort towsrd & union
of 1lnterests in the colonies, Harley offers the following:

In 1764, at the very time that & spirit of discontent

began to prevaill, the convention of ministers and elders
et Philadelphia inclosed & oircular letter to all the

12Rerley, Cherles Thomson, p. 61.
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Presbyterian congregation®s in Pemnsylvania, recommending
a general union. As a result of the letter, 2 union

of those congregatlions immediately took place, while

g like course was pursued in a2ll the southern provinces.
Within a year, the ammual Synod at Fhiladelphis was
establlished, composed of delegates from all the
Presbyterian congregations in the colonies, The Con=-
gregational churches in New England soon united with
the FPresbyterian interest, and permanent committees

of correspondence were appointed, with power to comsult
on political and religious affairs. By this union, a
party was prepared to display thelr power by reslstance,
and the stamp law presented itself as s favorable object
of hostllity. Yet, sensible of thelr own lncompetency
to act effectually without assistance, and apprehensive
of counteraction from the members of the Church of
England, and those dissenters who were opposed to
violence, they strove with the utmost asslidulty to make
friends and oonverts anong the disaffected of every
denomination. A 'Soclety of Dissenters' was formed

in New York to oppose the Church of England by entering
into correspondence with dissenters 1n America,
Great Britain, and Ireland,i3

The Congregatlional and Fresbyterlan clergy told their

congregations that, "the only form of govermnment to which
true Ohristians could submit was a govermment by consent

in which the people, ceaselessly vigllant against oppression,
retained the right to overthrow unjust rulers,"l*

"The most violent in densuncing the Froprietary govern-

ment," says Charles J, Stille, "were the Scotch-Irish settlers

13 ;n.’ ppo 61-62

14
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to the west of the Susquehamma."l5 The Presbyterian
clergy were, however, apprehensive of the danger to their
church should a royal government be substituted for that of
the Proprietary. They apparently were unhappy with thelr
present station, but unlike Galloway, they were not convinced
that royal government was the solution. Stille summarized
the position taken by the Presbyterians, or Scotch-Irish,
with the following conclusion:

They seem to have held at all times a distinct
position., In 1764 they had preferred to retain the
Proprietary govermment rather than submit to the
direct authority of the Crown; in 1776 they were the
strongest opponents of the FProprietary govermment and
charter, and earnestly advocated national 1nggpendence
and the abolition of the Provincial charter.

Whatever the ultimate motives of the Presbyterians
might have been, Galloway was not alone in his deep susplcions
and contempt. John Hughes belleved that the revolution was
a Presbyterian-Congregationalist plot. "The bigoted
Calvinists," he asserted, "were ripe for open Rebellion,
when they polsoned the Minds of the people enough and had
gathered together Forty Thousand Cut-throats to fall upon
the Eplscopalieans.” They were as averse to kings as they

were in the days of Oromwell, and as early as 1766 some had

15¢narles J. Stille Ihg %%‘g Egig
D (Philadelphias iho oriﬁ oec etgzo%%mylnm,
s DPe 57. Further reference to this work will be abbreviated
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begun to cry out, "no King but King Jesus.” Thelr true
purpose, Hughes argued, was to form "a Republican Empire,
in Americs, being Lords and Masters themselves,"l7

Pennsylvania appeared to Galloway and his friends
to be drifting into a state of anarchy, a danger which the
Paxton riots of 1764 had dramatized. JNow again in 1765 with
the passage of the Stamp tax, mobs were foreing decisions
upon colonial officlsls of govermment, Reform was impera-
tive, but democratlec reform was not the answer. The obvious
solution, concluded Galloway, was some form of closer con-
stitutional wunion with Britain., This would provide political
machinery that would obviate publlic displey. In addition,
Fhiladelphia would then have effective British support
against the Presbyterians, The "Americanus" essay is a
worthy summatlon of his stand in 1765.

While Franklin and Gelloway accepted the Stamp Act,
Thomson took an active part in preventing its enforcement in
Fhilladelphla. He was an elder in the First Presbyterilan
Church, FPhiladelphia, when the steps toward the uanlon of =all
Presbyterlans were in progress.l® Yet, until the Stamp Act
he evidently was not one of the radical Presbyterians, On

17see the letter from Joseph Galloway to Benjamin
Franklin dated November 14, 1765 quoted in part in Miller,

Origins, p. 196 and Harley, Oharles Thomson, pp. 65-66.
18harley, Onerles Tnomsonm, p. 63.
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intimate termes with the Quaker party leaders, especially

Franklin and Gellowey, he had been given minor Jobs by the
party, including the appointment as secretary in the negotia-
tions with the Indians at Easton in November 1756 and again
in July 1757. Also, in six of the seven money bills enacted
between 1756 end 1760 he had been one of the persons selected
to countersign the paper curromv.lg He had written in favor
of the Indlens et & time when the FPresbyterian hatred for
them had permitted the extreme behavlior of the Paxton rioters.
With the onset of the Stamp Act, however, he made it clear
that he would resist Parlliamentary taxstion vigorously.

His letter to Benjamin Franklin dated September 24, 1765
represented his stand in that year.

The Cectober 10, 1765 ZFemnsylvenia Journal carried the
story of the arrivel of stamps from Few Castle. On Saturday,
October 5th, the HRoyal Charlotte had come up to the city
attended by HMS Sardine, Other ships lowered their flags
to half mast. Bells were rung. At 4 o'clock p.m. sBeveral
thousand citizens met at the State House to consider weys
end meens of preventing the Stamp Act from being carried into

execution,

1921-u'n.n, Mg Pe 467; Also, see the
and 764, ey carry an a .warning of counter-

felit twenty shilling bills containing several signatures, one
of which was Charles Thomson's,
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John Hughes wrote:

On Saturday the 5th of October, . « + I recelved
information that the ship with the stamps was to come
up to town that day . . « At 2 o'clock the post
errived with the mell and packet, and among other things
my Commission, this the party ventured to alledge, be-
cause there was a e packet for me: acco
the mob collected, efly Wﬂl
enlsuriuir th the Chief ce illiam en's

son a2t the 28"‘“ nnintingndmmhgmlm
clasS. « ¢ o

Charles Thomson was one of the emlssarles., He was
appointed on & committee with James Tllgham, Robert Morris,
Archlbald MeCell, John Cox, Willlam Richards, and Willlam
Bradford to go to John Hughes' home and demand his resigna-
tion as stamp distributor.

It should be noted that of this group only Thomson
had been affiliated with the Quaker party. The others were
ell proprietary perty men. Thomson wes Fresbyterian, however,
a8 Hughes had noted. It seems that party lines were thus
broken by the Stamp Act. Galloway verified this in his
letter to Benjamin Franklin of November 15, 1765 wherein he
complalned that "too many of our friends were inclined to
unite with those wretches," /The Proprietariang] "against
the Stamp kct.“zl

Hughes was 1ln doubt as to what action he should take
in view of riots and confusion in provinces to the east.

20pennsylvania Journal SUPELEMENT, September 4, 1766.
2wi11er, Orizins, p. 137.
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Franklin told him to hold fast and to execute his dutiles

regardless of what rash behavior others might be gullty of.
Now, on October 5th the mob was demending his resignation.
Unable to stell them successfully, Hughes reluctantly agreed
not to carry the law into executlion until it was generslly
complied with 1n the other colonles. The deputatlion then
withdrew, but upon consulting theilr assocliates the demand

was ralsed for a signed statement of resignation. Recelving
this, Hughes sent for his former political ally, Charles
Thomson. He asked Thomson if they had been serious the day
before, of if they had gained what they could from dlscussion.
Thomson sa2ild that he was sincere, but that he could only

speak for himself. "I replied," wrote Hughes, "well gentlemen,
you must look to yourselves, for this is a high affair:®
Thomson answered, "I do not know, but I hope i1t will not be
deemed rebellion." Hughes replied, "Indeed, Sir, I know no
other name for 1it." "Well," sald Thomson, "I know not how

it may end for we have not yet determined whether we will

ever puffer the act to take place here or not."22 The whole
commlttee called agaln on Monday and recelived Hughes! qualified
resignation in writing.2>

22

mn%%g' September 4, 1766.
This issue con e fo statement of resignation as

well as other documents in a lenmgthy account written by John
Hugh.n.

231bid.
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The October 10, 1765 issue of the Pennsylvenias
Gazette carried the election results. Gealloway wes returned
to the Assembly, and soon thereafter was named lts Speaker.
The same Joseph Galloway who had been the radical seeking
overthrow of the proprietary govermment, now represented the
strictest consemtlv‘. views, E, H. Baldwin, Gallowey's
biographer, concluded thaet "he feared the tyranny of the
mob rule more than the tyranny of the hrliuont."24

The same issue of the Gazette reported that Charles
Thomson was elected a oity warden for Fhiladelphia., He
emerged from this sltercation to become a very significant
leader of the Pennsylvania radleal element,

It was at this time that Franklin was beginning his
press campaign for repeal of the Stamp Act., He furnished
his friend and owner of the London Chronicle, William
Strahan, with an extrect of his well-known amblguous letter
of July 11, 1765 to Thomson, and the forthright Thomson
reply deted September 24, 1765.25 Although Franklin was
aware that Galloway had written the "Americanus" essay,
and even informed him that he lmew, he wisely did not use
1t in his Journalistic endeavors. Thus, although his

24pelawin, Joseph Gellowsy, p. 289,

253ee the March 6, 1766 issue of the
Wch reprints the entire article from the
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friendship for Galloway remained strong, Franklin began
to turn to Charles Thomson when imperial matters were at
issue.

In the February 6-8, 1766 editions of Strahan's
Chronicle, Franklin published hils letters to Governor
William Shirley of Massachusetts, written over a decade
before. These very pointed writings were deslgned to both
clerify the American position and to restore Franklin's
reputation in the colonles. The letter from Franklin to
Shirley dated December 18, 1754 was undoubtedly & reasonably
accurate representation of Franklin's poslition by early
1766. It does not, however, seem to reflect his 1765 thought.
Perhaps 1t is simply a2 matter of Franklin's allowing his views
to remain dorment until shocked into reasserting them. It
can be seen in the followlng excerpt that he shared more
closely the views of Thomson than those of Galloway:

I mentlioned 1t yesterday to your Excellency as my

opinion, that excluding the people of the colonies
from all share in the cholce of the grand council

(of 2 Colonial Union), would probably give extreme
dissatisfactlion, a8 well as taxing them by act of
Parliement, vwhere they have no representative., In
matters of general concern to the people, and especially
where burthens are to bes lald upon them, it is of use
to conslder, as well what they will be apt to think
and say, as what they ought to think., . . . That it is
supposed an undoubted right of Englishmen, not to be
taxed but by their own consent given through thelr

representatives, . « « That compelling the colonies
to pay money wlthout thelr comsent, would be rather
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like raising contributions in an enemy's country,
then texing Englishmen for thelr own public benefit.26

Franklin laid the plans for the time when he might
be allowed to Speak to the House personally. He encouraged
others to write on Aperican affairs, On February 13, in a
lengthy examinatlion before the House, he gave the American
arguments against the tax, Of the 174 questions asked,
some were put by opponents, some by friends of the act.27
The replies were brief, lucld, and to the point, They aimed
at showing that the tax was contrary to custom, and adminis-
tratively impractical. The full text of the examination was
published and widely read in both England and America.
Franklin wrote to Thomson February 27, 1766, "I have re=-
printed everything from America that I thought might help
our Common Cause,"28

His reputation having suffered greatly in America,

a campalgn was under way In the Eemnsylvenla Gazette and

the Zexnsylvanla Journal to restore his lmage, ZIExtracts
of letters from London, verifying that he had been a tire-

less worker for repeal, were printed in the above newspapers,

26
, Smyth E:;;igp, III, pp« 232-239; see the May 15
1766 1ssue of the Tennsylvania _ﬂ_aau te. T

2TPu11 text of Pranklin's Ezgalnation cen be found
111 smﬂ'th, m' Iv' ppl 413" L

28
Smyth, W 8, IV, p. 411; Crane, Franklin's Letters
Yo the Fress, p. 35.
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Ten such extracts made their appearance during the period
of February 27, 1766 through May 8, 1766, Seven of them
were printed by the Gazette, and they are spaced so that
they make an effective argument.

In the battle for repeal of the Stamp Act, the boycott
of British goods was significant. The unhappy British
merchants petitioned Parliament for relief and on March 18,
1766 the repeal bill was passed. Brash headlines in supple-
mentary issues of the Pennsylvanls Gazette and the Pemnsylvanis
Journal for May 19th carried the announcement to the people
of that province. Great rejoicing ensued. In the festivities,
Franklin, among many others, was toasted for his efforts.2d

Writing to Charles Thomson on September 27th, Franklin
Bald, "There are claimers enough of merits in obtaining the
repeal, But, 1f I live to see you, I will let you know what
an escape we had 1n the beginning of the affair, and how
much we were obliged to what the profane would call luck,
and the pious, Erovidence."”? In this seme letter, he
informed Thomson that he had the letter of September 24th
published in the Chromicle. From Pranklin's conversation
it is clear that he was greatly relieved that this conflict
had been resolved at last.

29Pemnsylvenia Gezette, Jume 12, 1766.

Pp1gelow, Horks, IV, pp. 240-241; Smyth, Writings,
IV, pp. 4622463,



64

Edmund S, Morgan draws an lnteresting conclusion
regarding the events of 1765661

The men who would have counted most in the e

ainds a8 to waich side they vould teke. But becsuss
their deoisions and probably most of them thOugHY
mttﬁf'nﬁ?:p&;{.mrff :n:'o:;.isgz‘l? g

Unfortunately, the Declaratory Aet and the Townshend
Dutles soon made their decisions relevant again. In the
meantime, the fall election of 1766 sparked several news-
paper articles that severely criticized both Galloway and
Franklin,

An unsigned "Essay Towards discovering the Authors
and Promoters of the Memorable STAMP ACT," appeared in the
Journal. Olaiming to have mede "very diligent engquiry,®
the author concluded that "your own sgent, Dr, Bewee=n
Fewekle==n 18 generally believed to have had = prinecipal
hand in promoting the Stamp Act." Franklin was sccused of
bargaining with Lord Bute and the Ministry in hopes of
affecting a change of govermment in Pemmsylvanis end getting
the assigmment as govermor., "Both J--n Hu 8 and
Jemen Ga ay give him reason to hope that they shall

be able to put the Act into execution." When the Ministry

later knew that it could get enough votes for repeal, "it

Slyorgan, Stamp Act Orisis, p. 257.
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was then that Dr, Pew<ee-n was called to the bar of the
House to be examined. ZXnowing that his integrity was being
suspected and that his frlends Bute and Grenville were
expiring, the Doctor had no choice. He did the only thing
left, disclalmed the Stamp Act to retrieve his character
with his constituents and the new ministry," 2
This bitter criticism was followed by the writing
entitled "CONTRADIOTIONS," which appeared in the newspapers
the followlng week. Its sole purpose was to portray Galloway
as hostile to the baslc American arguments against the Stamp
Act., The "Americanus" essay was compared to Franklin's
"Exeminatlon." Perhaps the end result anticipated was that
of further splitting the anti-proprietary party. Inescapable
was the conclusion that Franklin and Galloway were no longer
in accord on imperial issues. The following excerpte from
thet article serve the purposes of this paper by illustrating
that lacgk of accord. In regard to the use of troops,
"Americamus" sald:
The protection of Americe hes in no small degree,
T2 then 1% be incomtestiBly Just, that imerios Showld
contribute towards the means of her own safety . . .
sritioh subjects, in eviry Dary of th worlds § of -
forming, directing, and executing that protection,

1s constitutionally vested in the crown alone . . .
America consisting of a number of colonies in their

2 pennsylvenis Jourmel, SUPELEMENT, September 18, 1766.
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infant state, and independent of each other, is in a
particular menner dependent on this power, and has a
right to delggd an exertion of it, to insure its
safety « « «

By contrast, the "Examination" stressed that:

They (Americans) are very able to defend themselves,
I know the last war is commonly spoke of here as
entered into for the defense, or for the sake of the
people of America., . « « The war, as 1t commenced for
the defence of terrlitories of the Orown, the property
of no American, and for the defense of a trade purely
British, was really a British war~--and yet the people
of America made no scruple of contributing their utmost
toward om&ng it on, and bringing it to a happy
conclusion,

Answering the inguiry as to how contributions are
to be procured, "Americanus" stated:

In thelr present state, this can be done, but by
one of two modes; elther by the Parli=ment, or by the
several legislatures of America. . . It can be of little
moment to the general welfare, and of course to the king
and people of England, whether these aids are granted by
2 British Parliament, or the uvggal American legislatures;
Provided they be really granted.

Franklin's "Examination" answered the question by saying:

Their opinion is, that when aides to the orown are
wanted, they are to be asked of the several assemblies,
according to the old established usage, who will, as
they always have done, grant them freely. . . The
granting alds to the crown, 1s the only means they have

33 dournal or Pemmsylvenis Gazette,
September 25, R
> big,

Pmia.
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of recommending themselves to thelr sovereign, . .
as it 1s the security of all their other rights.30

Galloway had been shaken by the property destructlion
and mob intimidetion of public officials. He looked to
England for the solution. His answer to his eritles was
that,

I never shall d any truth I am charged with,
and therefore edge I wrote the plece 8 d
Americanus. I slso confess I am, and ever be,
an eneny to riots, I have ever esteemed them, destruc-
tive of both and ﬁn!n and utterly
subversive to the very end of soclety. And therefore
it was with real concern, I saw the flame spreading
with dangerous ocipitn.%ion thro' the colonies, . . .
I was then, as I am still, clearly of opinion, that
the repeal of the Act would have been more easily
obtained, by dutiful remonstrances against it, showing
our rights, our poverty, and by proposing some plan
in which the crown might confide, that the colonies
would in future unite in granting the aids necessary
for thelr genersl safety, than by the measures which
wers then pursued. . . »37

The controversy diminished as the October elections
passed. The calm established by the repeal of the Stamp
Act was short-lived, however. New York and Georgila soon
reacted in deflance agalnst the Quartering Act, Franklin
wrote to Galloway, June 13, 1767, expressing concern over
thls behavilor:

It 1s sald the bill to suspend the legislatures

of New York and Georgla, till they comply with the
act of Parliament for qt'urtu'ing soldiers, will pass

6 mid.
3T1paa.
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this session. I fear that imprudencles on both sides
may, Step by step, bring on the most mischievous con=-
sequences, It 1s imagined here, that this act will
enforce lmmedlate compliance; and, if the people
should be quiet, content themselves with the laws
they have, and let the matter rest, till in some
future war the King, want aids from them, and
find himself restralned his legislation b
the act 2s much as the people, shall think fit
his ministers to propose the repeasl, the Parliament
will be greatly disappointed; and perhaps 1t will ;ako
this turn., I wish nothing worse may happen. « « .

It should be noted that this is essentlially the same
position taken by Franklin regarding the passage of the
Stamp Act. Perhaps the battle for repeal had momentarily
exhausted his oppositlion to Perliament. His most serious
concern appeared to be that of proving to those friends of
Americe the gratitude and discipline in the colonles., He
was apprehensive thaet rash behavior might bring even more
trying legislation rather than sympathy from Britain, and
he seemed to sense the unpopularity that the American cause
could reach should the tension continue.

The 1llness of Lord Chatham and the persistence of
George Grenville again brought the Amerlcan issue to the
fore in mid-1767 with the passage of the Townshend Acts.
The most controversilal of these acts was the Duty or Revenue
Act, passed June 29th to become effective the following

November 20th, Its intent, stated in the preamble, was to

3Bp1gelow, Works, IV, pp. 289-295; Smyth, Nritings,
v! pp‘ 25‘”.
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raise a revenue to pay salaries of civil govermment officials
and judges as well aj to keep troops for defense in America.

Charles Townshend, in sponsoring the above legisla-
tion, was exploiting the unpopularity of the American cause.
To counter thls image of umlisclplimd Americen colonists,
Frenklin hed long extracts of hils "Examinatlon" printed
in the London Chronicle for July Tth and 9th, "Some of our
friends," he wrote Galloway, "have thought that a publication
of my 'Examination' here, might answer some of the above
purposes, by rexoving prejudices, refuting falsehoods, and
demonstrating our merits with regard to this country. It
is sccordingly printed and has a great run,">?9

Although he contlnued his efforts to heal the wounds
between Amerlca end Britaln, Frenklin evidenced a steadily
declining respect for Parlisment. This drew him progi‘auiv.ly
closer to Thomson. By contrast, because Galloway refused
to be persuaded by hls letters, the gap was wldened between
Franklin and Gallowey.

Frapklin described Eritish politics in this letter
to Galloway dated February 17, 1768:

Mr, Beckford has brought inm a bill for preventing

bribery and corruption in electlons, wherein was a

clause to oblige every member to swear, on his admission
into the House, that he had not directly or indirectly

393&:101. Yorks, IV, pp. 304-308; Smyth, Mzitings,
V, PP 40 .
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given any bribe to any elector; but this was so
universally exclaimed against, as answering no end
but perjuring the members, that he has been obliged
to withdraw that clause., It was indeed a cruel cone-
trivance of his, worse than the gunpowder plot; for
that was only to blow the Parliament up to heaven,
this to sink them all down t0 ====, MNr, Thurlow
opposed his blll by a long speech, Beckford, in
reply, gave a dry hlt to the House, that 18 repeated
ev ere. 'The honorable gentleman,' says he, 'in
his learned discourse, gave us first ome definltion of
corruption, then he gave us another definitlon of
corruption, and I think he un:n:bout to glve us a third.
Pray does that gentleman imag ds ..IQ.E
%§'§E1= use that aot KNOW aggigoorru lon 1s7°
ich occasioned o a roar of laughter, for they
are 80 hardened in the practlice, that they arokxory
little ashamed of i1t. This between ourselves.

Galloway must have simply shrugged upon reading this
letter, He had recently (March 10th) written to Benjamin
deseribing the deplorable state of affalrs in the Pennsylvania
government, Fart of that letter follows. Note that he
continues to find royal government to be the answer to
the problem.

The affairs of this province are at length reduced
to the most desperate circumstances. All the mischlefs
we have long expected, if not come to pass, are now
in full prospect. We have long seen that the powers
of govermment, united in the same hands, with lmmense
property, would necessarily be attended with meny
inconvenlences both to the crown and the subject; and
that those powers, vested in the feeble hands of private
subjects, would prove too weak to support his Majesty's
authority, or to give safety to his people. . . « Ve
have the name of 2 govermment, but no safety or pro=-
tectlion under it. We have lews without being executed,
or even feared or respected. We have offenders, but

“Onigelow, Works, IV, pp. 394-398; Smyth, Writings,
v’ ppo 97- OO-
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no punishment., We have a maglstracy, but no Justice;
and a governor, but no government. ind, you well

know, we possess the warmest alleglance to our sovereign
and our mother country; and yet our persons and estates
are every hour llable to the ravages of the llcentlous
and lawless, without any hope of defence against them.%l

Previous to the Stamp Act, Franklin had concurred
heartily with Gelloway on the benefits of royal govermnment.
This had, in fact, been his mission when he salled to England
in 1764, Now, however, he had been close to British politics
for a long enough perilod to witness serious weaknesses in
its personnel. In his letter to Galloway, written March 13,
1768, he explained:

The old Parliament is gone, and its enemies now find
themselves at liberty to abuse it. I enclose you a
pamphlet published the very hour of 1ts prorogation.
All the members are now in their counties and boroughs
among thelr drunken electors; much confusilon and dis-
order in many places, and such profusion of money as
never was known before on any similar occaslion., The
first instance of bribery to be chosen a member, taken
notice of on the Journals, is no longer ago than Queen
Elizabeth's time, when the being sent to FParliament
was looked upon as a troublesome service, and there-
fore not sought after., It is sald that such a one,
"belng & simple man and concelving it might be of some
advantage to him, had given to the mayor
and corporation that they m wose him to serve
them in Parliament.”

" Tﬁ pgioo is ngnntraullr risen since that tiu,
or now no less mm!
is thought that near two ﬂﬂﬁm spen

election; but those who understand figures and not
by computation say the crown has 1&' %
in places and pensions to dispose

#lBigelow, Norks, IV, pp. 406-408.
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worth while to engage in such a seven years! lotter{é
though all that have tickete should not get prizes,

In addition to his contempt for Parllamentary
corruption, Franklin was becoming convinced that the
colonists should make thelr own laws, Although he had
John Dickinson's "Farmer's Letters" published in Englend,
he apperently did not agree with the "half-way house"
doctrine. The extent of his pessimism 1s seen in this
letter written March 13, 1768 to his son Willilem:

The more I have thought and read on the subject,
the more I find myself confirmed in opinion, that
no middle doctrine can be well meintained, I mean
not clearly with intelligible arguments, Something
might be made of elther of the extremes; that
Parllament has a power to make for us, or
tha.tithuapoﬂrtoukoﬁ_u or us; and I
think the arguments for the latter more numerous
and welighty, than those for the former. Supposing
that doetrine established, the colonles would then
be so many separate states, only subject to the same
king as England & Scotland were before the union.
And then the questlion would be, whether & union like
that with Scotland would or would not be advantegeous
to the « I shall have no doubt of the affirmative,
being Ly persuaded that it would be best for
m%t, and that though particular parts might f
particular disadvantages in it, they would find greater
advantages in the security aris to every part from
the increased strength of the whole. But such a union
is not likely to take place, while the nature of our
present relation is s¢0 1little understood on both sides
of the water, and sonti.ggntn concerning it remain so
ﬂd‘ly different, . «

42p1gelow, Works, IV, pp. 425-427; Smyth, Writings
% 111_112.9 ] 5 ’ s
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The Declaratory Act had been made an intimate part
of the bill repealing the Stamp Aet. It was designed to
make clear to the colonists that "Parliament had the right
to tax in all cases whatsoever." It was not until the
Townshend Acts that the colonists came to realize its full
slgnificance. Radicals were again given a cause for which
to crusade and a movement was begun to renew the boycott
of British goods.

News reached London that the people in Boston were
lawlessly resisting the customs officlals there, and that
troops had been called for., Franklin was less troubled
by these excesses than he had been during the Stamp Act
agitation. London was rioting too, over John Wilkes whom
the king was determined to keep out of Parlisment., Franklin
wrote to John Ross on Mey 14, 1768;

Even this capital, the residence of the king, is
now & dally scene of lawless riot and confuslon. Mobs
Bown that will not Toar for Wilkes and Livesty. s r .
be Bevber massaed, Sal Safer 4o 11ve Salery VhaR SMAY
of a propriotc.ry.“

So that Galloway might know his feelings on this

matter, Franklin wrote to him on this same day:

DEAR SIR:-=I received your favor of March 3lst.

It 1s now, with the messages, in the hands of the
minister, so thet I cannot be more partiocular at

442 s Nritings, V, pp. 132-134; Bigelow, Works, IV,
PP. -
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present in answering it than to say I should have a
melancholy prospect in going home to such publie con-
mun, I did not luv- greater confuslon behind
me. pers, and letter of this to Mr.
Rou orn you of miserable situation this
&7 is in, ¥While I am writing, a great mob of

ooul porters fills the street, eu'ryus a wretch of
thelr business upon poles, to be ducked and otherwlse

hed at their pleasure for working at the old wages.

respect to law and government seems to be lost among
the common people, who are moreover centunnn{ inflamed
by sedlitlous scribblers, to trample on autho g y and
every thing that used to keep them in ordu'.

It could not have been pleasant for Galloway to read
such a despaliring commentary on Britain, for he was still
very intent upon promoting a closer tle with England, Both
he and Franiklin could see the need for a revision in the
govermmental structure by which the colonies were presently
being mismenaged. Franklin was too close to Parliament to
believe deeply that this solution was obtainable, although
he continued to work with that goal in mind, By contrast,
Galloway was adamant in his own coneclusion that royal
government was both the answer and obtalnable. He reminded
Franklin that the instructions to the Pennsylvanis agents
mede & request for change of govermment for the sixth time.
Writing on October 17, 1768, he complained to Franklin:

It is truly discouraging to a goplo, who wish well

to the mother country, and by their dutiful behaviour

during these times of American confusion have recommended
themselves to the crown, to have an application so

A5Bigelow, Works, IV, pp. 444-446; Smyth,
v, pp. 1341§1ng ” ‘ iritinee,
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honorable and beneficlel to the latter so much

neglected. Would the ministry cooly attend to the
matter, it would certainly be otherwise. However,
I am convinced, should the people once despalr of

the change, either the confusion, or the
conseqxgnoe you heve pointed out, will assuredly
ensue,

Franklin hed saild that should the petition for royal govern-
ment be rejected or neglected again, the ocrown would never
again have a like request made by the people.

Thomson was not interested in more parliamentary
control. Recent leglslatlon had shown him that Parlisment
was oblivious to basic libertlies, and his energies were
directed toward removing this ominous hand of taxetion.
Freviously, he had been instrumental in bringing the merchants
of Pennsylvania to concur wits other colonles in & boycott
of English goods during the Stamp Aet crisis, The British
merchants had felt the economlic plnch and hed petitioned
successfully to the Parlisment for repeal. In the erisis
over the Townshend Dutles, however, the movement for co-
operation 1n nonintercourse with Boston and New York was
devold of any real vitellty in Fhiladelphia until December
1767. Thomson and John Dickinson formed the leadership of
the movement to arouse the passive merchants to opposition.

On December 2, 1767 & newspaper agitatlon wes bezun
in a2 rather unpretentious mammer, but which had far-reaching

“nigdow, Works, V, pop. 42-44,



76
effects, It was on that day that the first Letter from
a Pennsylvanla Farmer appeared. The letters appeared weekly
until the twelfth and last, which was published in February,
176847

Dickinson's aim was to show the danger of allowing
any precedent of Parliamentary taxation to be established,
for 1t was impossible to tell how far the precedent would
be pushed,

Late in October, 1767, Boston voted to discontinue
the use of British products and to encourage the use of
American manufactures. The popular party of Philadelphia
agreed with Boston, called & meeting, but was able only
to return an expression of lymthy."‘a Barly in 1768, the
Pennsylvania Assembly instructed its agents to join with
those from the other colonies to urge repeal of the obnoxious
acts. Boston pled with Pemnsylvania to fall in line on non-
importatlon, by agreeing to suspend all trade with Britain
for a year from December 31, 1768,

onicle, December 2, 1767-
[lvania Gazette, December 3,

1767-1‘ohmnry 18 1768-
48z, 1. Brnnhoule, "The Effect of the Townshend Acts

in Ponuylmh
s LIV (19 %
m ﬂadelphh: 'l'ho Hi-to Socle

« 409, Further reference to the
Brunhonn u'holc whl be abbreviated to read: Brunhouse,

%gm;ﬁ « Ford's book will be abbreviated
to read: rd, Writings of John Dickinson.
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The FPhiladelphis merchants met at London Coffee
House on March 26th., They debated heatedly, 2nd came to
no definite action. They merely urged that non-importation
should extend only to the articles taxed, for they suspected
that Boston would smuggle goods while other ports suffered
by adhering to the agreement.

The Fennsylvenis Gazette on March 31, 1768 printed
the Circular Letter from Massachusetts., On May 10 1t was
laid before the Assembly. The next day the House adjovrned
until September 12th. On September 13th a letter from
Virginis recommending a union of the colonies to combat the
revenue acts was lald before the House. The House practically
ignored 1t, "due to the influence of the Speaker, the power-
ful Quaker, Galloway,"49

The Gazette for March J1lst also carried one of the
speeches made at the merchant's meeting at London Coffee
House, It was probably delivered by Thomson, In 1t he
attacked those who opposed nonintercourse because of the
discomfort it supposed:

:Par]I.t h::n:o u:g:r e:;:'t ‘:;{ulvol now, when TAXED %
SENTATION when shall we 0;2;: ﬁlmﬁvﬁrv%%n%-

thing in the of the that ought to make
it more reasonable to oppose than to oppose this?

A9Brunhouse, Effect of Zownshend Acts, p. 361.
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W gy oy bk F R
Mthhcityatth Crisis, « « »

Benjamin Franklin had parts of this speech reprinted
in the London Gezetteer for Msy 18, 1768,3°

Late in April a meeting of merchants wes again
called to comsider non-importation. Dickinson was solliclted
to use his influence to sway the merchants to agree not to
import any goods after October 1, 1768. The only significant
result of this meeting was a debate in the press between
Galloway on the one hand, and Dickinson and Thomson on the
other. This continued throughout the spring and summer of
1768,

Thomson renewed his attack sgainst self-interest in
the Gazette for May 12th., Under the psuedonym, "A Freeborn
American," Thomson quoted the words of the "Pennsylvania
Farmer" in saying, "a people is traveling fast to destruc=
tion when individuals consider their interests as distinct
from those of the publie." In the same article he urged
the Fhiladelphia merchants to unite with Boston and New
York as they had in 1765

10 o sitention ot Tk b In G Uine l‘ﬁh‘é‘%"‘"
Acgt. « ¢« « If these things are evident t

contemptuous sentiments must we form of those who are
calm spectators of theilr country's ruin? ., . . Shall

0zZimernan, Cherles Thomson, p. 472.
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Wﬂ rioul cause uwm.
ppy divhionl m.ﬁhmm. oblmct

the welfare of e Farmer shine as
a:l.z:lt the only mo ot FPhiladelphia's public
spirit? . . .

We urge you, we most ardently beseech you, Jjoin
with New-York and Boston.

Gelloway answered in an essay signed "A Chester
County Farmer" and printed in the June 16th Gezette. He
wrote that "A Freeborn American" must have been written
by "some Boston Factor in your City." Galloway observed
that the Fhiladelphla merchants "must have dlscovered some
secret Intention in the New-England Scheme, that would be
very disadvantageous to the Trade of this Province."

He argued that, "When we discontinued our own menufactures
upon repeal of the Stamp Act, many were thrown out of
work and American made goods were left in surplus for lack
of a buyer. I ask 'A Freeborn American' what guarantee we
have that this will not happen again.”

Thomson took up the challenge and replied with an
essay signed "Martinus Seriblerus," and printed in the
Gazette for July 2lst. Oharles wondered if "A Chester
County Farmer" really bellieved that the late acts of
Parliement had "a special design to encourage the trade
of this province, and to defend us from the schemes of
New England." He criticlzed the logic of his adversary
who belleved that "'our merchants must have discovered



80
some intentions of the New-England Scheme,' which tho
'never executed,' would be disadvantageous to our trade,
fand tho' 'discovered,' are still 'secret.!"”

"A., B," clalimed to represent the merchants point of

view in a set of gqueries in the Pennsylvenis Chronmicle,

July 25th. The anonymous suthor, probably Joseph Galloway, >t
questioned the wisdom of severing commercial connections
with England except in dire necessity. He declered that

all the wool in North America would not supply the colonists
with hats and stockings alone. Had the merchants in their
letters to England done all they could to induce the mercantile
houses there to agitate for repeal? Vas it consistent with
the rights of mankind for one province to insist that another
should adopt its measures, more especlally for a people who
call themselves "Sons of Liberty?"

In this same article, the following quote probably

is most representative of Galloway's fears:

The Commlttee of Philadelphis Merchants now sitting
should ask themselves: whenever any Contention or
Oontroversy arises between Governors and Governmed,
whether the Legislature 1s not the proper Tribumal for
the Determinatlon of them; belng & Body of men duly
authorized, in & 1 Capaclity, to address, redress,
oy Bl gy - Rights of the Subject and the
frerogative of the Orown; and whether Anarchy and

Confusion will not ensue from the Adoption of other
Heasures?

Slguntzleman, Joseph Galloway, pp. T4=T75.
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Another meeting was called for July 30th at the
State House, Oharles Thomson and John Dickinson were the
prinelipal speakers. The speeches are carried in the
Pennsylvenis Chronicle for August 1st. The result of the
meeting was a recommendation to the Assembly to send petitions
to the King and Parliament., Thus, Thomson and Dickinson had
not yet been successful in getting Pemnsylvania to join the
colonial non-importation Agreement which Boston began in
August, 1768,32

It was not until November 1, 1768 that the merchants
met and drew up a memorial to thelr London friends, pledging
to adopt a non-importation agreement in the spring if
Parliament had not acted to redress their complaints,
Fressure from the mechanies and artificers forced the
merchants to meet on February 6, 1769. They agreed to
cancel all orders for fall goods unless they were shipped
before March 1lst. They agreed further to order no more
goods unless they could be shipped before March 10th, by
which time they expected to know definitely the answer to
their memorial,3>

A% long last, on March 10, 1769, the Fhiladelphia
merchants agreed to suspend trade with England after April 1st,

52Zimmerman, Charles Ihomsom, v. 473.
”_m" P "740
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on all goods except twenty-two very necessary articles,
The merchants were driven to suspenslon of trade by boy=-
cotts and threats of mob viclence.5* Any violator of the
agreement was to be stigmatized, "an enemy of the Liberties
of Americs," and his name was to be published.>>

While Thomson was laboring for non-importation,

Franklin was stlll campaigning for repeal of the Townshend
Agts. A letter from Thomson, dated NHovember 26, 1769, made
clear his contempt for any taxation by England upon the
colonies, He warned Franilin that England was foreing the

colonies to resent the crown:

How much farther they mey proceed 1s uncertain, but
from what they have already done, the colonies see
that thelr groz:rty ils precarious and their liberty
insecure. t true the impositions elready laid
are not very grievous; but if the principle
established, and the authority by which they sare
lald admitted, there 1s no securlty for what remains,
The very nature of freedom su es that no tax can
be levied upon a mﬁo without their consent given
perso or b * representatives., It was not
on account of the largeness of the sum demanded by
Charles I that ship money was so odlous to the commons
of England, But because the principle upon which it
was demanded left them nothing could call their
own. The continuation of this cl of the TParliament
will certeinly be ductive of 11l consequences, as
it will tend to alienate the affectlions of the colonies

from the mother country it has awakened a
spirit of eng « The people examining have
gained a fuller edge of thelr rights and are

become more attentive and watchful against encroaclhments

5%Ford, liritings of John Dickinson, pp. 435-436.
SBrunhouse, Effect of Townshend Acts, p. 366.
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of power, at the same time they are become more sensible
to the resources they have among them for supplying
their real wants, Resentment as well as necesslity will
drive them to improve them to the utmost, and from the
enius of the people and the fertility of the soil, it
easy to foresee that in the course of a few years
they will find at home an ample supply of all ir
wants., In the meantime thelr strength, power, and
nunbers are daily increasing, and as the property of
land is parcelled out among the inhabitants and almost
every farmer is a freeholder, the spirit of liberty will
be kept awake and the love of freedom deeply rooted; and
when strength and liberty combine 1t is easy to forugg
that a people willl not long submit to arbltrary sway.

Franklin circulated this letter among members of
Parliament along with the accompanying Philadelphia merchants?
letter. Both were printed at length in the London Chronicle
March 3, 1770. The Thomson letter was reprinted in the
Zennsylvanle Gazette May 10, 1770,

The use of Thomson's letter in London, like all other
efforts of Franklin and his colleagues, had falled to secure
total repeal. The tax on teza remained. But even partial
repeal in March precipiteted a contest in the colonles over
relaxing the non-importation agreement. Should trade be
resumed in all articles except tea, or should the coloniles
maintain thelr austerity until all duties be removed?

Franklin's anonymous reply to Thomson, entitled "To

an Unknown Correspondent in America," London March 18,

56Har1ey, . 67-68 (Har
1t from Jolles “‘?M@&M‘&
5

the Year » De 24).
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1770.57 was significant in answering this question. The
month of May was filled with meetings of traders desiring
some modification of the agreement, and an extract from this
notable letter, omitting only the first two sentences and
the final one, was widely circulated in America in that
month, In 1t FPranklin volced a vigorous plea for holding
fast to non-importation, He reasoned that,

In short, 1% appears to nitthnt if we do not now

8ilst in this measure till has had its full effect,
t can never again be used on any future occaslon with

the least prospect of success, and that, if we do
g:rc::.;:nc::tﬂ:: {ﬁge we shall never afterwards have
Another letter by Franklin, dated March 21, 1770,
wes sent to Joseph Galloway. It apparently saild much the
same thing., On May 15th Galloway lald the letter before
the Assembly, The FPhiladelphia merchants notifled the
provinces to the east that letters and advice from London
"have convinced the people of this clity of the Necessity
of adhering to their Non-Importation Agreement." On June
5th the general meeting in Fhiladelphla sgreed to retain
their pollcy of nonintercourse.
Galloway and Thomson both were willing to exhibit

thelr correspondence with Franklin, In addition, Thomson

57% PP 251-254: Jared Sparks, A
o PP- B

» Zranidin's Letters to the ZFress, p. 210.
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worked diligently to prepare the merchants for acceptance
of the Franklin sdvices. When they declined support, he
began rallying other forces. He aroused the new organiza-~
tion of tradesmen and mechanics, and stirred popular
sentiment, two forces to which Franklin's prestige made
e powerful appeal.

During 1770-1771l, Franklin was corresponding with
the tradesmen's commlttee of Philadelphia to whom Thomson
hed turned for support. Thomson had fought English taxation
on two occaslons 1in the colonles, Franklin had done the
same 1n Epgland. But Galloway refused to battle Farliament.
He feared that disobedlence or disrespect would bring
menacing results., There is little doubt that by this time
Gallowey and Thomson were &t odds with each other, The
following note printed in the October 1-8, 1770 Pennsylvania
COhronicle by its editor, Willlam Goddard, is indlcative of
this:

On Saturday last a virulent Libel, signed IH against
Joseph Parker, Esq; a Represeatative of this Oounty,
Mr, Charles Thomson, and myself was thrown into my
House, by a person unknown. The author i1s mad because
his friend, Mr. Galloway has lost his seat in the
Assembly as a representative of this county. He says
that Thomson laughs at the melancholy fall of
"Americanus.". . .

Upon hearing that Thomas Gage had sent the Ministry
a copy of Franklin's letter to Thomson, Galloway warned,



86
"Pray be careful 1ln future what you write to that man,
who 1s voild of Principle of Value . . ."5?

Galloway's warning to Franklin, regarding Thomson,
only served to show Franklin how far apart they were be-
coming on International issues, Although he respected
Galloway's i1deas, Franklin now respectfully disagreed with
them, and continued to rely on Charles Thomson for news
assessing colonlal thought. He wrote an essay which was
published in the London Chronicle for November 8, 1770 and
reprinted in the Pennsylvania Gazette for January 24, 17T1.
The emphasis in this plece upon continued support of non-
Importation by "the generality of the people in America"
is an interesting reflection of Franklin's new accord with
Thomson and the Fhiladelphia tradesmen's committee:

To the Printer of the London Chronicle.

SIR,

MUCH abuse has lately been thrown out against the
Colonles, « . « The Fact is, that there is not, nor

hes been any Rebellion in America, If the rescue of e
Selzure by Smugglers, or the Drubbing en Informer or

low Custom-House Ofticu-. were Rebellilon, ¢
Scotland, and Ireland, might be sald to be in Rebellion
almost every Week in the Year, end Instances of that Kind
are much fewer in Americe than here. . . «

The Americans love and honour the Name of Englishe

men. « « » They think, however, and have always thought,
that they themselves have alone the ht of granting
their own Money, by their own Repres tives in

591p14., p. 211.
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Assnhlz met, and that the Parliament of Britaln hath
no Right to raise e Révenue from them without theilr
Consent.

The Parliament hath, nevertheless, of late made several
attempts to ralse such a Revenue among them,

Heretofore, whenever the Colonies thought themselves

aggrieved by Briltlsh Govermment, they applied for redress
by humble Petition; and it was usual to recelve and con-
sider their Petitions, and give them a reasonable Answer.

They proceeded in the same Manner on the late Occa-

sions, . « » Flnding the Petitions of separate colonies
were not attended to, they thought to give them more

welght by petitioning Jointly. The Petltion of the

Stamp Act congress was rejected on the FPretense that

it was an 1llegal assembly with no right to protest.

On the Occaslon of the Duty Act the Assemblies corresponded
wlith each other in order to send sultable Petitions., This
time they were called a FLAGITOUS Attempt.

It was then thought that to withhold our Commerce until
our Grievances are redressed, would afford a Foundation
for petitioning. Then our petitlion would be attended
go, as they were on former Occaslon, and meet with
uccess.

Writers against the colonists are doing great harm.
They will be read in the Colonies where resentment will
then grow. . « « Lenlent measures by Britain will most
likely heal the Wound effectually. For harsh Treatment
mey lncrease the Inflammation, make the Cure lees
practicable, and in Time bring on the Necessity of an
Amputation; Death indeed to the fevered Limb, Weakness
and Lameness to the mutilated Body.

NN,
Orane suggests that Franklin's new reputation might
have had something to do with his appointment in October
as agent in London for the Massachusetts Houn.6° In any

SOMO 3 Pe. 211.
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case, Lord Hillsborough aroused his ire by refusing to
recognize his appointment until finally approved by Governor
Hutchinson.

Unhapplness with the austerlity program continued,
however, until Thomson was finslly pressured into calling
the Committee of Merchants together on September 17, 1770.
They met at Davenport'!s Tavern., Three carefully worded
questlons, all calling for no alteration in policy except
in concert with the other provinces, were to be voted upon.
The gathering presented & counter-list, These questions
would restrict non-importation to tez and other dutied
articles., They voted to consider the latter 1list first and
approved it. The trial vote on the committee's question
was an adverse 89-45, Unable to reconcile his views with
the vast ma jority, Thomson announced that the agreement wes
broken and trade would be resumed as voted. He and ten
others then announced their resignationl.61

In summarizing the effects of the Townshend Acts,
Franklin wrote despairingly:

oulzozgigg §f°e2:§t2%°§§ :;;o:nb;h:e:y:;.ghgiinment,
the seeds sown of a total disunion of the two

countries., . . . The more the people are dissatisfied,
the more rigor will be thought necessary; severe

6lp September 24, 1770
Brunhousfw mﬂ_&f Pe 3T3. ;
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punishments will be inflicted to terrify; rights and
privileges will be abolished; greater force will then
be required to secure execution and submissiong the
expense will become enormous; it will then be thought
proper, by fresh exactions, to make the people defray
it; thence the British nation and government will
become odious . ., . war emsues, and the bloody struggle
will end in absolute slavery to America, or ruin to
Eritalin by the loss of her colonies; the latter most 62
probable, from America's growlng strength and magnitude.

With the resumption of trade a relative calm pre-
valled. Radieals busied themselves with the establishment
of the importent committees of correspondence, but they found
it 4ifficult to keep their flames of liberty burning, as
the ports regained thelr activity. What they were unsble to
do, Lord North did for them with the Tea Act in M2y, 1773.

Galloway, in expressing his opinion on the Tea Act,
found it both reasonable and beneficial because:

The consumer of tea in America was obliged to pay
only one profit to the Company, another to the shop-
keeper. But before the act, they usually paid a profit
to the Company, to the London merchant, who bought it
of the Company and sold it to the Anoriean merchant, and
also to the American merchant, besides the profit to the
retaller, So that, by this act, the consumer of this
necessary and common article of subsistence wag enabled
to purchase 1t at one<helf of its usual price.°3

There were those who disagreed with this argument.

When news reached the colonies that the tea shipments had

®2Burlingane, Benjsmin Framkiin, v. 108,
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started across the Atlantic, merchants grew excited with
the prospect. They believed that their business was greatly
Jeopardized, whether they sold tea or not, by the awarding
of a monopoly by the Perliament. Thelr chief object was to
form combinations to prevent the landing of the tea. Though
resolute opposition was in the air, Boston was gullty of
violence beyond what most responsible leaders could condone.
The destruction of property during the "Tea Party" in December,
1773, was irresponsible behavior. Franklin called it "an
Act of violent Injustice on our part." He wrote at length
to the Massachusetts Committee of Correspondencs:

I am truly concern'd as I belleve all considerate
Men are wlth you, that there should seem to any a
leoellit% for carrying Matters to such Extremity,
as in ispute about Publick Rights, to destroy
private Property. . « « I cannot but wish & hope that
before any compulsive Measures are thought of here,
our General Court will have shewn a Disposition to
repalr tga Demage and meke Compensetion to the
Company.
The merchant class split over the violence of the
Tea Party. They had been the primsry opponent of Parlisment
and trade restrictions, Many now took their stand with the
forces of govermment and were emphatic in their demands for
law and order. However, the split was mended to a great
extent by the severe punitive acts of Parllament that

followed. Whereas mobd destruction had antagonized many

641v1d4., p. 300.
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people, the enactment of these "Ugerclve Acts" tended to
rebulld the forces that opposed Parliament., Franklin had
written in February, 1774, denouncing the Boston Tea Farty
as an unjustifisble act of violence. He now wrote to his
son Williem:

I do not so much 28 you wonder that the Massachusetts
Assembly have not offered ent for the Tea. « « &
Parliesment and the Minlstry have extorted many Thousand
Pounds from Amerlca unconstitutionally, under Oolour
of Acts of Parliament, and with an armed Force. Of
this Money they ought to make Restitutlion. They
might first have taken gut Payment for the Tea, &o
and returned the rest.®

Charles Thomson must have shared those same sentiments.

In 1774 he was one of the most zeslous Sone of Liberty in
Philadelphia, Paul Revere arrived in the city on May 19,
1774 with a copy of the Boston resolutions. He also carried
with him private letters addressed to Joseph Reed, Thomas
Mifflin, and Charles Thomson, These letters were read at
the Coffee House that same day. Thomson then mensuvered
for a general meeting of the merchante to be held in the
long room of the Olity Tavern om the next evening, May 20,
Planned speeches were discussed by Thomson, Mi£flin, and
Reed. They successfully sought the ald of John Dickinson,
who was popular with both conservative and liberal elements

in the city.

851p14., p. 310.
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In the tense meeting that evening the letter from
Boston was read., Reed then addressed the group with "temper,
moderation, but in pathetic terms." Miffliin then spoke with
more "fire and wermth," Thomson then "pressed for an
immediate declaration in favor of Boston, and making common
cause with her." 5o vehement and zealous in making his
point was this "son of liberty" that he falnted and had to
be carried into another room. After he had recovered he
moved for a committee to be appointed to answer the Beston
letter. A committee of nineteen was selected; 1t was dominated
by the moderates, Thelr letter to Boston, dated May 21,
1774, reflected the cautious spirit of Philadelphia.65

Other colonles began to make manifest thelr sympathy
with Boston., Finally, in May 1774, Virginle invited all the
colonlies to meet at a congress to be held in Philadelphila
in September with delegates from every colony. There the
colonles could mutuslly esct upon a problem they were be-
coming convinced was not solely Boston's concern.

Thomson then mede a2 tour through the country, under
the appearance of a summer trip with his wife, but in reality
to better enlist the feelings of the back country people.

In July the Assembly of Pennsylvania resolved that
"in consequence of the differences which have long sustained

55There are many accounts of thls meeting. See Harley,
Cherles Thomson, pp. 69=T4; Stille, John Dickimson, pp. 340-351.
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with Britain, and have greatly increased by late acts, it
is absolutely necessary to hold a congress of deputles from
all the colonles, and that a committee open correspondence
to effect that object,"57

A1l the colonies but Georgla accepted the Virginla
proposal., Franklin put off his return to America. "I have
been edvised by our friends,” he wrote to Cushing on September 3,
"to stay until the result of your congress should arrive . . ,n68

Galloway was not happy with Britain's pollicy toward
the colonies. He continued to hold, however, that allevliatilon
could and should come only through the traditional and legsal
channel of legislative memorlals to FParllement. Efforts at
popular control through extra-legal action were to him a
specles of anarchy. He had held himself sloof from populer
movemsnts, whatever thelr purpese, from the time of the
Stamp Act until this time. Now, however, he was confronted
with a2 popular movement of continentel proportions., He was
alarmed by the vigorous and unusuasl measures of Parlisment
against Boston. Thus, he was now willing to favor an inter-
provinelal congress 1f 1t should be composed of delegates

1a sun chgen Tinee 371 ATERIE.CE BRIt 24 Bopmepuoane

s Do 6.
®8van Dorem, Benjamin Frankiin, p. 485.
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chosen by the members composing the popular branches of the
several provincial leglslatures., Galloway demanded and
wes glven the privilege of drawlng up the 1lnstructlions for
the Pemnsylvania delegatlon and Influencing the selection of
its delegates, He successfully prevented Charles Thomson
from being chosen to serve wilth this group. He was therefore
both surprised and humiliated when the Congress voted Thomson
to be 1ts Secretary.

By participating in the congress, Galloway hoped to
discourage radical behavior. The congress might be persuaded
to formulate a plan of pelitical unlon between the two
countries. It could operate in such a manner that American
rights and privileges could be secured by the mutual action
of both the colonlsts and Britain.

John Adams' notes recorded &t the September 28, 1774
session of the Congress quote Galloway s making the following
statement while presenting his Flan of Unlon:

I am a8 much a friend of liberty as exists; and no

man shall go further in polint of fortune, or in point
of blood, then the man who now addresses you. We want
the aid and assistance and protection of the arm of
the mother country. ZFrotectlon and alleglance are
reciprocal duties, Can we lay claim to the money and
protectlon of Great Britain upon any principles of
honor or conscilence? 0Can we wish to become allens to
the mother state? VWe must come to terms with Great
Britain. Some gentlemen are not for negotiation. I

wish I could hear some reason against 1t. In every
government, patriarchilal, monarchial, aristocratical,
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or democratical, there must be a sugreme legislature.
I know of no American constitution.®9

The defeat of his Flan erased Galloway's hopes for
a peaceful reconciliation of differences with Britaln., He
concluded that the American colonists, by rejecting the
idea of an international leglslature and a written constitu-
tion, had invited disaster. Early in 1775 he wrote extenslvaly
showing that separation from Britain would be fateful.
Independence could only mean ruin, "If England refuses 1it,
she will ruin us., If she grants 1t, we shall ruin ourselves,”
argued Galloway.

When Franklin received a copy of the Galloway Flen
he showed it to Chatham and Camden, but he put no trust in
it. Englend and America were too far apart. Franklin wrote
to Galloway on February 25, 1775:

I have not heard what objJections were made to the
plan in the Congress, nor would I make more than this
one, that, when I consider the extreme corruptlion
prevelent among all orders of men in this old, rotten
state, and the glorious public virtuss so predominant
in our rising country, I camnnet but apprehend more
mischief than benefit from a closer union, I fear they
will drag us after them in all the plundering wars which
their desperate circumstances, injustice, and rapacity
may prompt them to underteke; and thelr wide-wasting
prodigelity and profusion 1s a2 gulf that will swallow

up uvasy ald we may distress ourselves to afford
them.

6
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Efforts at conciliation appeared fruitless to
Franklin, He salled for America on March 20, 1775. When
he arrived at FPhiledelphia he heard of the dloody outbreaks
at Lexington and Concord that had ocourred while he was on
the Atlantic. The next morning he was chosen by the Assembly
to be one of its deputies to the Second Continental Congress,
which was to meet in Philadelphia in four days. To pacify
the moderates he supported the Pstitlon to the King, giving
Britaln one opportunity more of recovering the friendship of
the colonies. He remarked of the Petition, "I think she has
not sense enough to embrace it, and so I conclude she has
lost them forever.”

Franklin did not visit with Galloway for five or six
weeks, He tried to persuade his son to glve up his post
as governor, and Galloway to sit in the Continental Congress
to which he had been nominated by the Pennsylvania Assembly.
Finally, when the three had met one evening and talked and
drunk $111 late, Franklin announced that he was for independence.
Hls son and Galloway could not be persuaded by his arguments,
William Franklin remained faithful to his office, and after
a term in prison was president of the Associated Loyalists
in New York. Galloway, after three complicated years in
Pennsylvania, became the exiled spokesman of the American
Loyallsts in London., Although their political conmections
had been severed, Franklin remained a close enough friend
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to Joseph Galloway that he deposited all his papers in
Galloway's Bucks Oounty house, Trevese, in October 1776
before salling for France. [+

Galloway wanted to protect both his pollitical and
economlice interests with strong British support. He thus
labored for an international legislature. Thomson regarded
British royalty as a corrupting influence., Perhaps this
letter to John Dickinson revesls his philosophy as 1t could
not have been disclosed earlier:

Summerville, August 16, 1776
Dear Sir,=-. « « You and I have differed in sentiment
with regard to the propriety of certaln publiec
measures, -- not so much about the measures theme
selves as the time, which you thought was not yet come.
But from the prejudices that I find prevail, and the
notlons of honor, rank, and other courtly ldeas so
eagerly embraced, I am fully persuaded, had time been
given for them to strike deep or root, it would have
been extremely difficult to have p;gpnrod men's minds
for the good seed of liberty . . .

In essence, this ten year perlod, 1764-17T4, wes
focused primarily on international issues. Chlef among
these were taxation, representation, and reorganization
of the British Empire. Galloway was the leader of Pennsylvania
conservatism throughout the decade, and he was a loyalist

during the Amerilcan Revolutlonary War, Since Franklin and

Trabaree, Papers of Beajemin Franklinm, VII, p. 29.
723t111e, John Dickinson, p. 210,
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Thomson were patrlots at the end of this period, they
might be described ss radlcals. However, Franklin's
position had fluctuated somewhat during this time.

The force inducing incompatibility into the Frankline
Galloway~Thomson relationship was the Stamp Act. In reeponse
to 1t, Thomson wrote with bitter contempt in a letter to
Franklin dated July 11, 1765, and he worked continuously for
repeal of the Act. Galloway called for acquiescence in the
legislation, defining his position in his "Americanus"
essay dated August 29, 1765. Franklin seemed to agree
with Galloway. However, when he came to know the attitude
of the colonists toward the measure, he worked diligently
for repeal, His respect for the Ministry began a steady
decline, and his ideas became increasingly homologous with
those of Thomson. He relied upon Thomson letters in his
newspaper campaigns for repeal of the Stamp Act, end later
for repeal of the Townshend Duties.

Following the Stamp Act, Galloway and Thomson were
bitter enemiss. On the other hand, Franklin meintained
a friendshlp towerd Gelloway, even though he was a patrioct
by 1774 and Galloway a loyalist.



UHAPTER V
SUMMARY AND CONCLUSIONS

During the decade preceeding the Stamp Act, Franklin,
Galloway, and Thomson found themselves 1in agreement on the
basic issues of the day. In this perlod Galloway moved
into politics and lmmediately became the protege of Franklin.
Thomson, also a8 & result of his friendshlp with Franklin,
gained his introduction into politics at about this same
time. The three men successfully sought taxation of the
proprietary lands. While Franklin was busy in England on
this assligmment, Galloway was holding his seat in the Assembly,
replacing him on committees, and keeping him abreast of
events in Pennsylvania through the mails.

Galloway was one of the Indian Commissioners at the
same time that Charles Thomson was serving as secretary to
Teedyusoung. In fact, it is probable that Galloway not
only persuaded Teedyusoung to demend a secretary, but he
could also have suggested Franklin's scholarly friend,

Thomson., Thomson's informetion on proprietary dealings with
the Indians helped Franklin caet doubt upon the honesty and
integrity of the TFenns. This was signiflicant in the Ministry's
decislon to allow texatlon of the Penn lands.
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The Stamp Act was probably the dominant factor
contributing to the dissipation of the Frankllin-Galloway-
Thomson harmony. Galloway was shaken by the rlots and the
mob successes in intimidating publie officials. Also, he
was certain that the Presbyterians were plotting for =
separate Americen state., Belng no friend of republicanism,
he endeavored for the next decade to bring sbout an inter-
nationsl legislature, and his final plan was much like
Franklin's Albany Flan of 1754, Wanting also to insure
the protection of privete property, Galloway became the
spokesman for Pennsylvania conservatism in the decade following
the Stamp Act. No amount of evidence by Franklin could con-
vince him thet his plan was either impractical or unobtaln-
able, Unable to compromise once the First Continental Congress
had rejected his Plan of Unlon, Gallowsy refused to perticipate
in the Second Congress.

Thomson conslidered the Stamp Aect a precedent for
texation that was contrary to the rights of Inglishmen.
Uolonial petitions had gone unheeded. He believed mass
demonstrations and economlec boycott to be the most effective
methods of communicating colonial feelings to the Mianilstry.

His energles were great enough to win him the nickmame,
"The Sam Adams of Philadelphia,”

Franklin first accepted the Stamp Act 28 an inevitable,

momentary discomfort, He was surprised at the reaetion in the
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colonies, and hils reputation suffered greatly as a result
of his scquiescence in the Aect. He found thaet Thomson's
letter of September 24, 1765 was an accurate measurement
of colonlal determination againet the Stemp Aect, and he
preferred its loglec to that of "Americanus.,”

When the Townshend Dutles reopened hostilities,
Franklin sought to avert a cataclysm. He called for colonisl
humility and tectful response. Hls own optimism diminished
rapldly, however. DBecoming thoroughly discouraged with
Parliament, he conveyed his despair to both his son William
and to Joseph Galloway in letters dated March 13, 1768. It
was eesy for him to share the views expressed in Thomson's
letter of November 26, 1769, a letter which he circulated
in London at the helght of his campaign for repesl of the
Townshend Dutles.

Although Franklin had Implanted the Galloway hope
for an international leglslature, in his March 13, 1768
letter to his son, he reasoned that, "such a union is not
likely to take place." Galloway and Benjamin Franklin
continued to remain friends, but no longer agreed on their
political polemics after 1765. The break was begun when
the Stamp Act shifted the focus from local to intermationsal
problems.

A mutuel contempt was developed between Galloway and
Thomson, so that they wers in Lit%.r oprosition following
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the Stamp Act. This was climaxed by Gelloway's success
in excluding Thomson from the Pennsylvania delegation to
the First Continental Congress. The Congress both shocked
and humiliated Galloway by electing Thomson to serve as
its Secretary.

When Franklin returned to Pennsylvania in 1775, he
was unable to persuade either his son Willliem or his friend
Joseph Galloway from Joining the British cause,

Thomson became the "perpetual Secretary" of the
Continental Congress. Franklin traveled to Parls to seek
foreign ald for the Americans, Galloway fled te England
where he criticlzed the conduct of the war, and became the
spokesman for the displaced loyalists.
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